## Master thesis

Method development for including land-use change greenhouse gas emissions in Life Cycle Assessment

Evaluating the UNEP-SETAC framework for LULUC impacts in LCA.

Student Student number Supervision

Master Submission date Anouk Spruit s3037401/4865863 Prof.dr.ir. J. Guinée Prof.dr.ir. P.M. van Bodegom Industrial Ecology 03-04-2024



Universiteit Leiden The Netherlands



# Method development for including land-use change greenhouse gas emissions in Life Cycle Assessment

Evaluating the UNEP-SETAC framework for LULUC impacts in LCA.

By

Anouk Spruit

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

#### **Master of Science**

in Industrial Ecology

at Leiden University and Delft University of Technology

to be defended publicly on Thursday, April 11, 2024, at 9:15 AM

Leiden University student number: s3037401

Delft University of Technology student number: 4865863

#### **Graduation Committee:**

First supervisor	Prof.dr.ir. J. Guinée	Leiden University, CML,
Second supervisor	Prof.dr.ir. P.M. van Bodegom	Leiden University, CML, Environmental Biology

External supervisors:

First external	Ir. L.M.V. de Weert	Blonk Sustainability
supervisor		
Second external	Dr. A.C. Grasso	Blonk Sustainability
supervisor		

An electronic version of this thesis is available at http://repository.tudelft.nl/.

# **Acknowledgements**

This thesis presents my final work for the degree of Master of Science in Industrial Ecology at Leiden University and the Technical University of Delft. I am very grateful for having pursued this degree because I can genuinely say that, after years of searching, I finally found my true passion: sustainability.

The aim of industrial ecology is to address sustainability challenges by taking an interdisciplinary approach in identifying, designing, and critically evaluating sustainability solutions. During the master's programme, I have learned to do so by means of various methods such as material flow analysis, environmental input-output analysis, and life cycle assessment (LCA). I have been particularly intrigued by LCA, as it combines my interests in exact sciences and building models with my passion for sustainability. This programme has provided me with a variety of hard and soft skills that will prepare me for a future career in sustainability, particularly in LCA. Hopefully, one day I can call myself a LCA expert.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisors. Prof.dr.ir. J. Guinée, for your continuous support and feedback, which has lifted my thesis to a higher level. I have been amazed by your ability to combine your extremely busy schedule with providing me large amounts of detailed feedback and always being available for help. I could not have done this without your incredible knowledge of LCA. Prof.dr.ir. P.M. van Bodegom, for taking time out of your busy schedule to provide me with detailed critical feedback and steering me in the right direction at crucial moments. Your deep knowledge of biological processes with regards to land use change has helped me tremendously to distinguish between facts and fables. Ir. L.M.V. de Weert, for your extensive knowledge of land-use change and always finding ways to challenge my thinking. Both your enthusiasm and your commitment to strive for a more sustainable world are admirable. I could not have done this without your cheerful day-to-day support at Blonk. Dr. A.C. Grasso, for your valuable assistance with refining my scientific writing during the final stages of my thesis, your experience and guidance were essential in shaping the clarity and coherence of my work.

I am also thankful for all the support I received at Blonk Sustainability. I want to thank my dear colleagues for creating such a joyful and motivating work environment. Without you, this process would have been much less fun. I am also thankful to the management at Blonk for providing me with the opportunity to conduct my graduate internship and for kick-starting my professional career. I'd also like to acknowledge my former team at Schuttelaar & Partners, for giving me the flexibility to explore my passion for LCA elsewhere and supporting me in combining my work at Schuttelaar & Partners with conducting my thesis and pursuing my future career at Blonk Sustainability.

I want to extend these words of gratefulness to my private sphere. I am thankful for my friends and fellow classmates at IE, with whom I have experienced many highs and lows over the past years. I have never so many kind-hearted and amazingly bright people in one place: I cannot wait to see how each of us will contribute to a more sustainable world. I'd also like to mention my parents, who have supported my pursuit of higher education. Finally, words cannot express my gratitude to Thijs. You have been my biggest supporter in my pursuit of my bachelor's and master's degrees. For the countless hours I've spent studying in the past 5.5 years, you have always been by my side.

## **Executive summary**

The UNEP-SETAC framework is the most well-known framework for including land use and land-use change (LULUC) impacts in life cycle assessment (LCA) in scientific literature. Yet issues regarding the framework's validity have been recognized by several researchers and the framework has not been implemented in common LCA practices. Due to the need in both policy and science for a consensus on a method to include greenhouse gas (GHG) impacts deriving from LULUC in LCA, research in an improved framework is warranted. Therefore, the objective of this master thesis was to evaluate the UNEP-SETAC framework and propose improvements, with the overall goal to advance the method development of LULUC frameworks that quantify LULUC GHG emissions of agricultural products in LCA studies.

To achieve this objective, a mixed method exploratory sequential design was followed. First, qualitative literature review was performed to explain the UNEP-SETAC framework to the reader and to reflect on the suitability of the UNEP-SETAC framework for the quantification of LULUC GHG emissions in LCA. Second, a literature review was conducted to propose an improved conceptual framework for quantifying GHG emissions of LULUC in LCA. Last, the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework were applied in a comparative LCA case study to compare the LULUC GHG emissions of 1 kg of sunflower oil from France and 1 kg of palm oil from Indonesia cultivated in 2020.

A significant issue that was found was the UNEP-SETAC framework's applicability to an attributional LCA (ALCA). The framework provides the LCA practitioner with various methodological choices that should be taken based on either an ALCA (i.e., an LCA that provides information on what portion of global burdens are associated with a specific product life cycle) or consequential LCA (CLCA; i.e., an LCA that provides information on the environmental burdens that occur, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of a decision). The analysis showed that the UNEP-SETAC framework is largely based on consequential thinking, because emissions are calculated relative to alternative scenarios and based on future assumptions. Due to the design of the framework, the sum of all land transformation and occupation impacts does not equal the sum of all measurable anthropogenic land transformation and occupation impacts in the world. Therefore, it could be concluded that the UNEP-SETAC framework is not suitable in its current form for an ALCA study. Moreover, calculations are influenced by arbitrary value choices and a distinction is made between carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) originating from fossil carbon, temporary biogenic carbon or permanent biogenic carbon, while there is no scientific basis for this claim.

To advance method development, several weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework were addressed in an improved conceptual framework. The improved framework is in line with both ALCA and CLCA separately and does not mix the characteristics of the two methods. The basis of the framework is aligned with ALCA, and optionally, forgone sequestration can be calculated for a CLCA study. Importantly, using this improved framework for ALCA studies leads to additive results of all measurable anthropogenic emissions, relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline. For CLCA, the forgone sequestration can be quantified to indicate the impact of using the land for the functional unit, relative to abandoning the land and letting it regenerate. In the proposed framework, certain value choices have been made obsolete, such as the modelling period. Other arbitrary value choices (e.g., amortization period and method, and reference situation) have been standardized and (where possible) based on science.

The comparative LCA case study comparing the LULUC GHG emissions of sunflower oil cultivated in France and palm oil cultivated in Indonesia showed different results using the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework. It was assumed that the land in France was transformed centuries ago and the land in Indonesia was transformed in 2009. The functional unit for which the two alternatives were compared was '1 kg of crude oil cultivated in 2020'. When applying the UNEP-SETAC framework, 1 kg of sunflower oil caused 3.46 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from occupation) and 1 kg of palm oil caused 0.472 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (0.153 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq from transformation and 0.319 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq from occupation). When using the improved conceptual framework, 1 kg of sunflower oil caused 0 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions and had a forgone sequestration -14.7 kg CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 1 kg of palm oil caused 1.57 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from transformation) and had a forgone sequestration of -2.61 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions. Thus, when using the UNEP-SETAC framework, it could be concluded that the use of land

for 1 kg of sunflower oil caused more GHG emissions, while when using the improved conceptual framework, it could be concluded the use of land for 1 kg of palm oil caused more GHG emissions. In the improved framework, forgone sequestration (in CLCA) showed that if there is more oil production than demand, it is better to use palm oil and to regenerate the land that is used for sunflower seed cultivation. The results of the case study illustrated that the choice of LULUC framework can invert the conclusions of LULUC GHG emissions between two alternatives. This showed that it is highly important that the academic community reaches consensus on using one type of framework.

It is essential that governmental and international bodies are aware of the weaknesses in the UNEP-SETAC framework that were identified in this thesis, as they potentially lead to inverted conclusions and a misinterpretation of results. In this thesis, an improved conceptual framework is proposed that is consistent with ALCA and CLCA and that has limited arbitrary value choices. Further research is recommended to investigate the suitability of the proposed framework with other future-oriented modes of LCA. Moreover, it is highly essential that further research develops characterisation factors for the new framework to enable widespread use of the improved conceptual framework by LCA practitioners. In conclusion, for mitigation strategies of LULUC GHG emissions to be successful, it is important that the scientific community looks beyond the UNEP-SETAC framework and develops a more sound framework for including LULUC GHG emissions in LCA.

# Table of contents

Acknowledgements		
Executiv	ve summary	2
List of t	ables and figures	7
List of c	abbreviations	10
Glossar	У	11
1. Int	roduction	14
1.1	Research context	14
Acknowledgements         Executive summary         List of tables and figures         Site of abbreviations         Glossary         I. Introduction         1.1 Research context         1.1.1 Land use & land-use change         1.1.2 The impact of land use and land use change         1.2.7 Research focus         1.2.8 Research focus         1.2.1 Accounting of greenhouse gas emissions of agricultural LULUC activities         1.2.2 Quantification of agricultural LULUC GHG emissions in an LCA framework         1.3 Research problem         1.3.1 Academic research gap         1.3.2 Problem statement         1.3.3 Research objectives         1.3.4 Research questions         1.4 Thesis structure         2.1 The fundamentals of LCA         2.1.1 What is LCA?         2.1.2 Applications and limitations of LCA         2.1.3 The LCA framework         2.1.4 Goal and scope definition         2.1.5 Inventory analysis         2.1.6 Life crycle impact assessment         2.2.7 The inclusion of LULUC impacts in LCA         3.1 Mixed method research approach         3.2 Research dipproach         3.1 Mixed method research approach         3.2 Research flow, methods and requirements         4.1 Introduction to	14	
1.	1.2 The impact of land use and land use change	14
1.2	Research focus	15
1.2	2.1 Accounting of greenhouse gas emissions of agricultural LULUC activities	15
1.2	2.2 Quantification of agricultural LULUC GHG emissions in an LCA framework	16
1.3	Research problem	16
1.:	3.1 Academic research gap	16
1.:	3.2 Problem statement	17
1.:	3.3 Research objectives	17
1.:	3.4 Research questions	18
1.4	Thesis structure	18
2. Th	eoretical framework	19
2.1	The fundamentals of LCA	19
2.	1.1 What is LCA?	19
2.	1.2 Applications and limitations of LCA	19
2.	1.3 The LCA framework	20
2.	1.4 Goal and scope definition	20
2.	1.5 Inventory analysis	21
2.	1.6 Life cycle impact assessment	21
2.2	The inclusion of LULUC impacts in LCA	21
3. Re	search approach	22
3.1	Mixed method research approach	22
3.2	Research flow, methods and requirements	22
4. UN	VEP-SETAC framework for LU impacts	27
4.1	Introduction to the UNEP-SETAC framework	27
4.2	The concept of regeneration	28
4.3	Quantification of the transformation impact	29
4.4	Quantification of the occupation impact	30
4.5	Combining transformation and occupation impacts	31

	4.6	The choice of reference situation	32
	4.7	Assuming a future scenario after the studied system	32
	4.8	The choice of modelling period	33
	4.9	Quantifying permanent impacts	34
	4.10	The choice of amortization period	35
4.11		Connection to the climate impact category	35
	4.11	.1 Average residence time of fossil carbon in the atmosphere based on the Bern ca	rbon cycle
			35
	4.11	.2 Average residence time of biogenic carbon in the atmosphere	36
	4.11	.3 Calculating the CRP by means of the duration factor	37
	4.12	List of assumptions	37
5.	Refle	ecting on the UNEP-SETAC framework	39
	5.1	CLCA reasoning	39
	5.1.	I Double counting of emissions	39
	5.1.2	2 Combining CLCA and ALCA to capture the consequences of a decision	40
	5.2	Consequences of the framework's design	41
	5.2.	Occupation impacts	41
	5.2.2	2 Discounting or double counting impacts	42
	5.2.3	3 Regeneration time	42
	5.2.4	4 Assigning permanent impacts based on the modelling period	43
	5.2.	5 Aggregation of occupation and transformation	45
	5.3	Methodological choices within framework	46
	5.3.	Choice of reference situation	46
	5.3.2	2 Amortization period and method	50
	5.4	The Climate Regulation Potential (CRP) by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010)	51
	5.4.	1 Confusion about the definition of CRP	51
	5.4.2	2 Differentiating between fossil and biogenic carbon	51
	5.4.3	3 Cut-off at 500 years	52
	5.4.4	4 Calculating CRP based on the carbon transfer	52
	5.4.	5 Converting kg CO2.year to kg CO2-eq via the Bern carbon cycle	53
6.	Prop	osal for an improved conceptual framework	55
	6.1	Improving the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework	55
	6.2	The improved conceptual framework for ALCA	55
	6.2.	1 Step 1: categorization of land use in periods	55
	6.2.2	2 Step 2: quantify transformation impacts	57
	6.2.3	3 Step 3: quantifying the occupation impact	58
	6.2.4	4 Optional Step 3b for CLCA: forgone sequestration	59
	6.3	Benefits of the improved conceptual framework	60
7.	LULU	JC case study	61

	7.1.1 Scenarios and data collection	61
	7.1.2 Modelling	61
	7.1.3 Results	63
	7.1.4 Discussion	64
	7.1.5 Conclusion	65
8.	Discussion & Recommendations	66
8	.1 Implications of the research	66
	8.1.1 Implications for science	66
	8.1.2 Societal relevance	67
	8.1.3 Industrial Ecology relevance	67
8.	.2 Limitations and recommendations	67
	8.2.1 Terminology	67
	8.2.2 Modes of LCA	68
	8.2.3 Regeneration time	69
	8.2.4 Rewarding passive and active sequestration	69
	8.2.5 Forgone sequestration	69
	8.2.6 Bern carbon cycle	71
	8.2.7 Improved conceptual framework	71
	8.2.8 Development of characterisation factors	71
9.	Conclusion	72
10.	References	74
Арр	pendix I. International standards for LUC CFP	80
Α	bout the CFP standards	
	About the PAS 2050	
	About the FLAG	
	About the GHG Protocol	
С	omparing the CFP frameworks with UNEP-SETAC	81
	Main differences regarding the fundaments of the frameworks	81
	Differences in amortization period and method	82

## List of tables and figures

#### List of tables

Table 3.1	Snowball results of Milà i Canals et al. (2007).
Table 3.2	Snowball results of Koellner et al. (2013).
Table 4.1	Assumptions made in the UNEP-SETAC framework.
Table 5.1	Example calculation by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) for the biome of tropical forests.
Table 7.1	Overview of methodological choices in the five frameworks used for the illustrative case study.
Table I.1	Amortization period and method of CFP standards and the UNEP-STAC framework.

#### List of figures

- Figure 1.1 Land use as percentage of the global ice-free land surface (130 Mkm<sup>2</sup>) in 2015 (IPCC, 2019).
- Figure 2.1 The four phases of LCA.
- Figure 3.1 Research flow diagram. Data sources: WoS= Web of Science; FAO= FAOSTAT; IPCC= International Panel of Climate Change. Tools: Me= Mendeley; Mi=Miro; X= Excel.
- Figure 3.2 Snowballing procedure by Wohlin (2014).
- Figure 4.1 Changes in land quality over time due to transformation and occupation.
- Figure 4.2 Regeneration after occupation to a new steady state.
- Figure 4.3 Impact of transformation (blue shaded area) on natural land without occupation (adapted from Milà i Canals et al., 2007).
- Figure 4.4 Impact of occupation (blue shaded area) (adapted from Milà i Canals et al., 2007).
- Figure 4.5 Simplified illustration of transformation impact (TI) and occupation impact (OI) for three land use types (LU1 in red; LU2 in green; and LU3 in blue) with different regeneration rates (tLU1, reg; tLU2, reg; and tLU3, reg) (reproduced from Koellner et al., 2013).
- Figure 4.6a Transformation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land transformation and the assumed future is regeneration.
- Figure 4.6b Transformation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land transformation and the assumed future is continued occupation.
- Figure 4.6c Occupation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land occupation and the assumed future is regeneration.

- Figure 4.6d Occupation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land occupation and the assumed future is continued occupation.
- Figure 4.7 Calculation of permanent impacts caused by transformation at t1.
- Figure 4.8 Fraction of a CO<sub>2</sub> emission pulse which is still in the air after N years according to the Bern carbon cycle model (reproduced from Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010).
- Figure 4.9 The average residence time in the atmosphere of transformation impact is 50% of the regeneration time.
- Figure 5.1a 'True' permanent impact: the regeneration will never reach the reference situation.
- Figure 5.1b No permanent impact: regeneration reaches the reference situation before the end of the modelling period.
- Figure 5.1c Permanent impact: regeneration does not reach the reference before the end of the modelling period.
- Figure 5.2a Continued occupation with any modelling period leads to a permanent impact.
- Figure 5.2b Continued occupation without a modelling period leads to a (true) permanent impact.
- Figure 5.3a A larger modelling period leads to a larger total impact and a relative larger importance of temporary transformation and occupation impacts.
- Figure 5.3b A smaller modelling period leads to a smaller total impact and a relative smaller importance of temporary transformation and occupation impacts.
- Figure 5.4a The measurable transformation impact is a drastic change in quality at time t (in red), where a possible time dimension is neglected. The blue shaded area shows the quantified transformation impact according to the UNEP-SETAC framework.
- Figure 5.4b The measurable occupation impact is a delay in time (in red) of regeneration. The green shaded area shows the quantified occupation impact according to the UNEP-SETAC framework.
- Figure 5.5 The reference 'quasi-natural land cover' is portrayed by horizontal red line (Modified from Koellner et al., 2013).
- Figure 5.6a Reference situation (in red) of transformation impacts, according to Milà i Canals et al. (2007).
- Figure 5.6b Reference situation (in red) of occupation impacts, according to Milà i Canals et al. (2007).
- Figure 5.7 The effect of various reference situations in different bioenergy cases (reproduced from Koponen et al., 2018).
- Figure 5.8a The transition period is highlighted in read, which is currently not included in the UNEP-SETAC framework.
- Figure 5.8b The transition period is neglected in the UNEP-SETAC framework, because it is assumed that the quality reaches its final state instantly, without a time component.

- Figure 5.9 Amortization period equal to the regeneration time (green), instead of an amortization period equal to the transition period (red).
- Figure 5.10 The difference in quantifying the transformation impact of the CRP framework versus the UNEP-SETAC framework.
- Figure 5.11 Residence time of 1 pulse CO<sub>2</sub> is 157 years for a cut-off at 500 years for the Bern carbon cycle.
- Figure 6.1 Dividing the land use in periods.
- Figure 6.2 Categorizing the land use periods.
- Figure 6.3 Determining if the year of cultivation (at the end of period 3) falls within the amortization period.
- Figure 6.4 Determining the occupation impacts of period 3.
- Figure 6.5 Determining the forgone sequestration in CLCA for period 3.
- Figure 7.1a The carbon content on a parcel of land for sunflower cultivation in France.
- Figure 7.1b The carbon content on a parcel of land for palm oil fruit cultivation in Indonesia.
- Figure 7.2 The impact of LULUC activities for 1 kg of sunflower oil (SF) or palm oil (PO), expressed in kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq, calculated by 5 different methods.
- Figure I.1a CFP methods assume that LUC emissions are permanent.
- Figure 1.1b UNEP-SETAC assumes LUC emissions are temporary.
- Figure 1.2 Equal and linear amortization in % per year of total LUC emissions for an amortization period of 20 years.

# List of abbreviations

ALCA	Attributional Life Cycle Assessment
С	Carbon
CF	Characterisation factor
CFP	Carbon footprinting
CLCA	Consequential Life Cycle Assessment
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
CO <sub>2</sub> -eq	Carbon dioxide equivalent
CRP	Climate Regulation Potential
df	Duration factor
EC JRC	European Commission Joint Research Centre
Eq.	Equation
ESM	Electronic Supplementary Material
FLAG	Forest Land use and Agriculture Guidance
FU	Functional unit
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GWP	Global Warming Potential
ha	Hectare
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
kg	Kilogram
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
LU	Land use
LUC	Land-use change
LULUC	Land use and land-use change
PAS 2050	Publicly Available Specification 2050
PNV	Potential Natural Vegetation
Q	Quality
RQ	Main research question
SQ	Sub research question
t	Time
UNEP-	United Nationals Environmental Programme and Society of Environmental Toxicology
SETAC	and Chemistry

# Glossary

Term Definition		Also named		
Active sequestration	Conducting activities to increase the carbon content of the land, with the aim to sequester faster than natural sequestration.	Active restoration		
Amortization	Allocation of the LULUC impacts to the output of a parcel of land (Koellner et al., 2013).			
Amortization method	The method that is used to distribute the impacts within the amortization period to the products: equal or linear amortization.			
Amortization period	The timeframe that is used is to allocate impacts to products. E.g., if the amortization period is 20 years, it means that the change in quality within the modelling period is attributed to output of the land in the first 20 years after the land transformation.	Amortization window, temporal scope, allocation period		
Biogenic carbon	Carbon that is sequestered from the atmosphere during biomass growth and stored in biomass.			
Carbon footprinting (CFP)	Quantifying the "sum of greenhouse gas emissions and removals in a product system expressed as CO2-eq" (ISO TS 14067).			
Carbon transfer	Measurable carbon transfer to the air due to the transformation.			
Climate Regulation Potential (CRP)	Impact assessment model (by Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010) that connects the UNEP-SETAC framework to the climate change impact category.	Carbon Sequestration Potential (CSP)		
Discounting	When the measurable impact is larger than the quantified impact.			
Double counting	When the measurable impact is counted twice.			
Duration factor (df)	In the CRP framework, the duration factor is the average residence time in the atmosphere of the studied system's biogenic carbon divided by the average residence time in the atmosphere of fossil carbon.			
Forgone sequestration	The difference in carbon sequestration due to using the land for the FU, relative to abandoning the land and letting it regenerate. Forgone sequestration is calculated by subtracting the level of sequestration in the reference situation from the amount of sequestration in the studied system.			

Fossil carbon	Carbon that is stored in fossil fuels.	
Land management	"The sum of land-use practices (e.g., sowing, fertilizing, weeding, harvesting, thinning, clear-cutting) that take place within broader land-use categories" (IPCC, 2019). Land management is included in land use.	
Land quality (Q)	"The capability of an ecosystem (or a mix of ecosystems at the landscape scale) to sustain biodiversity and to deliver services to the human society" (Koellner et al., 2013). In the UNEP-SETAC framework, it is used to express the loss of quality due to LULUC. In the context of GHG emissions, the metric 'quality' is expressed by the parameter 'Carbon (in tonnes/ha) in soil, living biomass and dead matter'.	
Land use (LU)	"The total of arrangements, activities and inputs applied to a parcel of land" (IPCC, 2019).	
Land use and land- use change (LULUC)	Land use and land-use change combined.	
Land use and land- use change (LULUC) characteristics	The LULUC characteristics of the system under study are, for example, the size of the land, the year of the transformation, and the location.	
Land use (LU) category	Land use is categorized into categories, for example 'agriculture' or 'infrastructure'.	
Land use (LU) type	Within one land use category (e.g., agriculture), multiple land use types can exist (e.g., pasture, cropland).	
Land-use change (LUC)	The change from one land use category to another, caused by human activities (IPCC, 2019).	
Measurable emissions	Emissions that have taken place and can be measured as carbon loss of the land.	Absolute or observable emissions
Modelling period	The timeframe over which the difference in quality due to land transformation is integrated.	Time horizon, temporal scope, time frame, modelling time
Occupation	"The use of a land area for a certain human-controlled purpose (e.g., agriculture) assuming no intended transformation of the land properties during this use" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). Occupation is also called LU (Liptow et al., 2018), however this is incorrect because LU includes land management impacts (IPCC, 2019), while occupation excludes land management impacts (Milà i Canals et al., 2007).	Land use
Passive sequestration	The opposite of active sequestration. No activities are conducted to sequester carbon, it is only conducted by the forces of nature.	natural regeneration/relaxation

Permanent (transformation) impact	Permanent impacts can occur if the new steady state of the studied system is not equal to the reference situation (Milà i Canals et al., 2007) or if the regeneration towards the reference situation exceeds the modelling period (Koellner et al., 2013).		
Potential Natural Vegetation (PNV)	Reference situation, proposed by Koellner (2013), "which describes the expected state of mature vegetation in the absence of human intervention" (Chiarucci et al., 2010). It is similar to natural regeneration of Milà i Canals et al. (2007).		
Quasi-natural land cover	Reference situation, proposed by Koellner (2013): "the (quasi-) natural land cover predominant in global biomes and ecoregions".		
Reference situation The baseline to which the studied system is compared. In this baseline, the studied system would not have taken place.		Reference system, dynamic reference situation, baseline, reference scenario	
Regeneration	After a change in land quality due to transformation or occupation, the forces of nature will restore the land quality to a new steady state, if occupation is absent.	Natural relaxation	
Regeneration time The time it takes for the regeneration process to reach a new steady state.		Regeneration period	
Residence time	The time an average CO <sub>2</sub> molecule stays in the atmosphere before it is taken up by carbon pools.	Stay in the air	
Steady state	When the regeneration process has reached an equilibrium.		
Studied system	The activity for which the impacts are calculated.		
Transformation	"The change of a land area according to the requirements of a given new type of occupation process" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007).	Land-use change	
Transition period The time it takes for the carbon stock to be in a new balance after an impact, assumed to be 20 years (IPCC, 2006).			

# 1. Introduction

## 1.1 Research context

#### 1.1.1 Land use & land-use change

In 1700, nearly half of the Earth's land remained in a natural state, while the rest was in seminatural state, featuring minimal agriculture and settlements (Ellis et al., 2010). However, by the year 2000, a significant shift had occurred, with the majority of the (ice-free) land being used for agriculture and settlements, and only 20% of the land remaining wild and 15% semiwild (Ellis et al., 2010). In the previous six decades (1960-2019), land-use change (LUC) has affected almost a third (32%, 43 million km<sup>2</sup>) of global land area (Winkler et al., 2021).

Land provides the basis for human livelihoods and well-being through various ecosystem services (IPCC, 2019). Land is used by society for a variety of activities, primarily for agriculture or human habitation. Ranking from most to least intensive use, land use in 2015 can broadly be divided into infrastructure (1%), cropland (12%), grazeland (37%), used forests (22%), and minimal to not used lands (28%) (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. Land use as percentage of the global ice-free land surface (130 Mkm<sup>2</sup>) in 2015 (IPCC, 2019).

Land use (LU) is the total of arrangements, activities and inputs applied to a parcel of land (IPCC, 2019). Often, (natural) land lacks the desired characteristics for a specific land use type, such as cropland. In that case, the land needs to be transformed to make it fit the new land use purpose. A well-known example is the deforestation of tropical forest to create cropland for soybean cultivation. The process of transforming land is called land-use change (LUC). LUC is the change from one land use category to another, caused by human activities (IPCC, 2019). Within one land use category (e.g., agriculture), multiple land use types can exist (e.g., pasture, cropland). As an umbrella term, land use and land-use change (LULUC) is used to refer to all LU and LUC activities.

#### 1.1.2 The impact of land use and land use change

Society conducts LULUC activities because land provides various services for human livelihoods, but at the same time these LULUC activities have repercussions on both global and regional climates. In turn, these changes in global and regional climates pose various challenges to human livelihoods (IPCC, 2019).

On a regional level, modifications in land conditions can either mitigate or amplify warming and influence the frequency, intensity, and duration of extreme events like heatwaves and heavy precipitation (IPCC, 2019). Changes in land conditions redistribute water and energy, thereby changing temperature, pressure, moisture and subsequently precipitation locally. The extent of the effects differs based on the location and season. On a regional level, a change in land conditions causes a loss of natural ecosystems and decline in biodiversity (global decline of 11-14%) (IPCC, 2019). On a global level, changes in land conditions drive global warming due to biogeochemical effects (e.g., greenhouse gas emissions) and dampen global warming due to biophysical effects (increased surface albedo, decreased heat fluxes). LULUC (and the reinforcing effect of LULUC's environmental impacts) also have various social impacts on human livelihoods, such as decreased food security and loss of habitat (IPCC, 2019).

## 1.2 Research focus

# 1.2.1 Accounting of greenhouse gas emissions of agricultural LULUC activities

When land is transformed from one type to another, it results in a change in carbon in soil and vegetation per hectare of land (Brandão & Canals, 2013; Poeplau & Don, 2013). For example, if land is transformed from tropical forest to cropland, biomass is cut down, excavated, and lost, and a decrease in soil carbon will follow. The difference in carbon content will enter the atmosphere as CO<sub>2</sub>, thereby increasing the radiative forcing of the atmosphere (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010). This also works the other way around; carbon sequestration decreases the CO<sub>2</sub> in the atmosphere and increases the carbon in the soil and vegetation.

LULUC activities are responsible for one-fourth of the global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (IPCC, 2019). During 2007-2016, LULUC activities have caused net CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of  $5.2 \pm 2.6$  GtCO<sub>2</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> (IPCC, 2019). These emissions are mostly due to deforestation (partly compensated by afforestation and reforestation) and emissions and removals from other LU activities. These LULUC GHG emissions contribute significantly to global warming and climate change, thereby posing a threat to ecosystems and consequently to human livelihoods, by disrupting ecological balances.

Political efforts focused on mitigating GHG emissions are crucial in addressing the existential threat of climate change. Through international agreements, legislative initiatives, and ambitious targets, governments strive to transition to renewable energy sources, implement carbon pricing mechanisms, and promote sustainable practices across industries. GHG emissions are the mostly used indicator for climate change reduction strategies, both nationally and globally (De Rosa, 2018). A well-known example is the Paris Agreement, where 196 parties agreed to limit global warming to 1.5°C, by achieving a reduction of 43% by 2030 (United Nations Climate Change, n.d.).

In recent years, there is growing recognition among policymakers of the significant contribution of LUC to GHG emissions, as well as the potential sequestration that the Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) sector offers (IPCC, 2019). Governments and international bodies have increasingly incorporated land-use considerations into climate policies and agreements, understanding the crucial role that forests, agriculture, and other land-based activities play in the global carbon cycle (European Commission Joint Research Centre, n.d.). According to the European commission, "the need for an open deliberation and definition of a scientifically robust and detailed carbon accounting protocol is thus evident in the current political debate" (European Commission Joint Research Centre, n.d.).

The agricultural sector is the main driver of LULUC. About 5-14% of the global GHG emissions are attributable to LULUC due to agriculture (IPCC, 2019). Within the food system, during the period 2007–2016, LUC was responsible for  $4.9 \pm 2.5$  GtCO<sub>2</sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> emissions (IPCC, 2014). Due to the significant contribution of agricultural LULUC activities to the global GHG emissions and due to the need in policy for a carbon accounting protocol for LULUC activities, this thesis will be focused on the accounting of GHG emissions of LULUC activities in the agricultural sector.

# 1.2.2 Quantification of agricultural LULUC GHG emissions in an LCA framework

For reduction strategies of LULUC GHG emissions to be effective, it is important that the LULUC GHG emissions are attributed to the agricultural products that are responsible. This way, two alternative agricultural products can be compared, and the more sustainable alternative for LULUC GHG emissions can be favoured over the less sustainable alternative. The results of the comparison can be used in mitigation strategies that aim to reduce the LULUC GHG emissions of agricultural products.

Life cycle assessment (LCA) is the most used method for assessing the environmental impacts to (the use of) products. LCA is a "compilation and evaluation of the inputs, outputs and the potential environmental impacts of a product system throughout its life cycle" (ISO 14040). When conducting an LCA study for an agricultural product, the associated LUC GHG emissions can be included in the calculation. Therefore, this research focusses on the quantification of LUC GHG emissions in an LCA framework.

## 1.3 Research problem

#### 1.3.1 Academic research gap

Most efforts to include LULUC impacts in LCA within the scientific community have been made by a specific task force of the United Nationals Environmental Programme and Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (UNEP-SETAC) Life Cycle Initiative. The first version of the UNEP-SETAC LULUC framework has been first published in 2007 (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). A follow-up of the UNEP-SETAC LULUC framework has been published in 2013 (Koellner et al., 2013), in which the framework was further elaborated and a guideline for implementation was provided. Throughout this thesis, 'the UNEP-SETAC framework' and 'the authors' refer to Mila et al. (2007) and Koellner et al. (2013). The UNEP-SETAC framework covers the assessment of impacts of land occupation (also called land use) and land transformation (also called land use change) on biodiversity and ecosystem services (Liptow et al., 2018). For the remainder of this thesis, the framework will be referred to as being a LULUC framework, even though it excludes the influence of land management<sup>1</sup>.

Since the start of the UNEP-SETAC framework in 2007, the UNEP-SETAC seems to be the main framework within the scientific community for quantifying LULUC impacts in LCA. Most research that includes the UNEP-SETAC framework has been written by the co-authors of the UNEP-SETAC framework themselves. Examples of their work are the development of characterisation factors (Brandão & Canals, 2013), standardization of land use classification in the inventory (Koellner et al., 2012), extending the application of the framework to different land quality parameters such as biodiversity and carbon content (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010; Souza et al., 2015), or conducting a case study (Milà i Canals et al., 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to the IPCC (2019), land management is "the sum of land-use practices (e.g., sowing, fertilizing, weeding, harvesting, thinning, clear-cutting) that take place within broader land-use categories (Pongratz et al., 2018)". In the LCA community, occupation is also called LU (Liptow et al., 2018), however this is incorrect because LU includes land management impacts (IPCC, 2019), while occupation excludes land management impacts (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). For the remainder of this thesis, for simplicity LULUC will be used to refer to LUC and LU excluding land management.

Besides the presence of the UNEP-SETAC framework and the work of its authors in literature, the framework does not appear to be widely used in practise. It has been recognized by few researchers that the UNEP-SETAC framework raises many issues and is still not yet implemented in common LCA practices (Othoniel et al., 2016). Only a small number of case studies have tested (amongst others) the UNEP-SETAC method, which "implies that LCA practitioners are not familiar with these methods yet and that they are thus not in wide-spread use" (Liptow et al., 2018).

The UNEP-SETAC framework has faced some criticism in the scientific literature. For example, the UNEP-SETAC framework seems to oversimplify biodiversity and ecosystem dynamics (Othoniel et al., 2016; Souza et al., 2015). And the choice of reference situation within the UNEP-SETAC framework has been highly debated (e.g., Brander, 2015, 2016; Koponen et al., 2018; Soimakallio et al., 2015, 2016). Brander (2015, 2016) has emphasized that (elements of) the UNEP-SETAC framework are not consistent with the existing LCA modes: attributional LCA and consequential LCA.

Even though the framework has received some criticism, the UNEP-SETAC framework has not changed in the past 15 years. And despite the efforts of researchers who have ended their published papers with a call to action for further research in LULUC frameworks in LCA in general, and the UNEP-SETAC framework in particular, it seems like research has stopped progressing. Currently, there is still no universally accepted method in scientific literature for addressing LULUC emissions and removals in LCA (Leinonen, 2022). Because there is no consensus amongst experts, there is no clear guidance to practitioners (Brandão et al., 2022). This is concerning, because Brandão et al. (2022) have found that the design of a LULUC framework in LCA significantly impact the results of a study. Moreover, the results of LULUC GHG impacts from an LCA study have an increasing influence on policy and decision making (Brandão et al., 2022; De Rosa, 2018). This creates a sense of urgency for a widely used and accepted framework specifically for including the GHG emissions of LULUC in LCA.

#### 1.3.2 Problem statement

The UNEP-SETAC framework for including LULUC impacts in LCA is the most well-known framework for LULUC impacts in scientific literature, but it has been recognized by few researchers that the framework raises issues and is still not yet implemented in common LCA practices. Due to the need in both policy and science for consensus in a LULUC framework that can include GHG impacts in LCA, it is important that research continues progressing.

#### **1.3.3 Research objectives**

The goal of this master thesis is to advance the method development of LULUC frameworks that quantify LULUC GHG emissions of agricultural products in LCA studies. To address the knowledge gaps detailed in section 1.3, and to achieve this overall goal, the following research objectives have been established:

- A) Identify and evaluate the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework that might prevent it from being widely accepted and widely used in LCA studies;
- B) Identify improvements for the development of a new LULUC GHG framework in LCA;
- C) Propose an improved generalized LULUC GHG framework in LCA;
- D) Demonstrate how the new framework compares to the UNEP-SETAC framework.

#### **1.3.4 Research questions**

The main research question (RQ) is based upon the research objectives. The main research question is as follows: 'How can the UNEP-SETAC framework be improved to better quantify LULUC impacts of agricultural products in LCA?'

To answer the main research questions, several sub questions (SQ) are formulated:

- 1. How are LULUC impacts quantified in the UNEP-SETAC framework?
- 2. What are the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework?
- 3. How can the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework be resolved to achieve an improved conceptual framework?
- 4. How do the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework compare in a comparative LCA case study of an agricultural product?

## 1.4 Thesis structure

The research proposal will be presented in the following structure. Chapter 2 will provide the theoretical background around LCA. The research approach used in this thesis will be located in Chapter 3. An explanation of the UNEP-SETAC framework can be found in Chapter 4. Chapter 5 lays out the reflection on the UNEP-SETAC framework. An improved conceptual framework for quantifying LULUC frameworks can be found in Chapter 6. A comparative case study in which the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework are compared, can be found in Chapter 7. Chapter 8 lays out the discussion and recommendations, and the conclusions can be found in Chapter.

# 2. Theoretical framework

The results of the UNEP-SETAC framework need to be implemented in the LCA framework. This chapter serves to familiarize the reader with the LCA framework.

## 2.1 The fundamentals of LCA

LCA results of biobased products are highly sensitive to the methodological choices that are made within a LULUC framework (De Rosa et al., 2018). It is important that these methodological choices are aligned with the goal and scope of an LCA study (e.g., Brandão et al., 2022; De Rosa et al., 2018; Milà i Canals et al., 2007). In this section, the reader is provided with essential background information about the LCA method.

## 2.1.1 What is LCA?

ISO14040 defines LCA as the "compilation and evaluation of the inputs, outputs and the potential environmental impacts of a product system throughout its life cycle" (International Organization for Standardization, 2006). Thus, LCA is a method to assess all environmental impacts associated with all the life cycle stages that a product goes through. An LCA is not focused on assessing a product itself, rather it is focused on assessing the environmental impacts of the product's function or service.

LCA assesses the environmental impact of the use of the function of the product from cradle to grave. This involves a 'holistic' approach, where all environmental impacts should be assessed in one consistent framework, disregarding the potential different characteristics of those impacts (Guinée et al., 2002). LCA is quantitative in character, but qualitative aspects can be taken into account (Guinée et al., 2002).

### 2.1.2 Applications and limitations of LCA

LCA can have various applications, including analysing impact hotspots of current products, designing new products, and comparing alternative products (Guinée et al., 2002). While LCA has proven to be a widely used model for assessing environmental impacts, it also has various limitations that should be taken into account. Here, several limitations are mentioned that have an influence on the inclusion of LUC and occupation impacts in LCA.

LCA is not well suited for addressing localized impacts (Guinée et al., 2002). LUC affects various characteristics of the local climate (IPCC, 2019) and the local climate also has an influence on the extent of LUC impacts (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). In current conventional methods, land characteristics are determined based on ecoregions or nations and are assumed to be homogeneous within these units. Spatial heterogeneity within ecoregions and landscape configuration are ignored, even though these are key factors in determining LUC effects (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2017).

LCA also cannot address the time aspect of impacts, because LCA is typically a steady-state instead of a dynamic approach (Guinée et al., 2002). In LCA, time is integrated until infinity or integrated over a set time horizon. Additionally, in LCA is it unknown when in time interventions take place and what the interventions are per unit of time. However, the timing of GHG emissions (when in time they enter the atmosphere) determines the impact of GHG emissions (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010). Partly due to the absence of temporal information in LCA, the environmental impact of the timing of the LULUC GHG emissions and removals is currently not taken into account in LCA (Liptow et al., 2018).

LCA aims to be science-based, but the method includes assumptions and value choices (Guinée et al., 2002). These assumptions and choices should be made as transparent as possible. The quantification of LUC GHG emissions involves various choices, which have a large influence on the results.

LCA is a linear modelling tool, meaning that it assumes that all inputs and outputs scale linear regarding both the economy and environment (Guinée et al., 2002). However, in practice, inputs and outputs do not

always scale linearly. For example, sometimes economies of scale exist in production processes, meaning that the environmental impact per production unit decreases if the production volume increases.

#### 2.1.3 The LCA framework

The LCA framework can be divided into four phases: goal and scope definition; inventory analysis; impact assessment; and interpretation (Figure 2.1). The main guiding principle for reporting in LCA is that all issues (choices, assumptions, data, calculation rules, results, conclusions) should be reported, in a transparent way, and explicitly (Guinée et al., 2002). The following section will provide basic information for each phase and how it relates to including LUC impacts in LCA.



Figure 2.1. The four phases of LCA.

#### 2.1.4 Goal and scope definition

The first phase of LCA consists of the goal and scope definition, in which the characteristics of the LCA study will be decided upon.

The goal definition should include an explanation of the goal of the study and should specify the intended use of the results (application), the initiator and commissioner, the practitioner, the stakeholders and the intended users of the study (target audience) (Guinée et al., 2002).

The scope definition covers the characteristics of the LCA study, such as the temporal, geographical and technology coverage, the mode of the analysis and the level of detail of the study (Guinée et al., 2002). It should also justify the next step of this phase and coming phases.

The function, functional unit (FU), alternatives and reference flows are defined in this stage (Guinée et al., 2002). The FU describes how much of the primary function of the product is considered in the LCA study. The FU forms the basis for selecting alternatives that can provide the same FU. For these alternatives, the reference flows will be determined. The reference flow is a measure of the outputs that is are required for the alternative to fulfil the functional unit.

#### 2.1.4.1 LCA modes: ALCA and CLCA

There are two main modes of LCA: attributional LCA (ALCA) versus consequential LCA (CLCA). Other modes of LCA exist (Guinée et al., 2018), but that is beyond the scope of this thesis.

ALCA (also called accounting or descriptive approach) aims to assess the portion of global burdens attributable to a product and its entire life cycle (Life Cycle Initiative, 2011). The studied product system consists of processes that are connect by flows to the unit process that provides the FU or the reference flow (Life Cycle Initiative, 2011). ALCA utilizes data sourced from real suppliers or averages and uses allocation to deal with multifunctional processes or systems (Life Cycle Initiative, 2011). "In theory, if one were to conduct ALCAs of all final products, one would end up with the total observed environmental burdens worldwide (Life Cycle Initiative, 2011)".

CLCA (also called change-oriented approach) strives to offer insights into environmental burdens that occur, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of decisions, typically due to a change in product demand

(Life Cycle Initiative, 2011). In theory, the studied system is made up by only the processes that are affected by the decision, i.e., processes that alter their output based due to cause-and-effect chain originating from the decision (Life Cycle Initiative, 2011). CLCA aims to use actual supplier data if the data reflects the change in output due to the decision, otherwise data representing marginal technology is utilized (i.e., suppliers that will actually respond to a change in demand) (Life Cycle Initiative, 2011). CLCA uses substitution to deal with multifunctional processes to expand the analysed system with additional processes (Schaubroeck et al., 2021). CLCA is often perceived as suitable for informing policy and decision-makers because it shows the consequences of a decision (Ekvall, 2020).

#### 2.1.5 Inventory analysis

In the inventory analysis, the product system (or systems, in case of multiple alternatives) is defined (Guinée et al., 2002). The system boundaries are set between economy and environment, with regards to other product systems, and in relation to cut-offs. The flow diagrams are designed, and the unit processes are included. Data is collected for each of these processes. Allocation steps are performed for multifunctional processes. The result of the inventory analysis is the inventory table in which quantified inputs and outputs to the environment are listed for the FU.

#### 2.1.6 Life cycle impact assessment

In the life cycle impact assessment phase, the results of the inventory analysis are processed and interpreted in terms of environmental impacts (Guinée et al., 2002). An impact assessment model will define characterisation factors (CF) for relating the environmental interventions (in the inventory table) to the impact categories. If an environmental intervention has an impact in a certain impact category, the quantified intervention is multiplied with a CF specific for that intervention in that impact category. This is calculated in the characterisation step. Optionally, the characterisation results can be normalized to a reference, to indicate (for example) the severity of the impacts compared to the total global or regional impacts in a certain year.

## 2.2 The inclusion of LULUC impacts in LCA

To include LUC GHG emissions of an agricultural product in an LCA study, three steps need to be taken.

First, the LULUC characteristics have to be determined for the agricultural product under study. This step entails the data collection for the LULUC situation. For example, this step concerns determining how much area has been transformed, when in time, and which types of LU before and after the LUC can be recognized (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). These characteristics can be determined based on measurements, statistical calculations, satellite imaging or spatial modelling methods.

Second, the GHG impacts associated with the LULUC activities for the agricultural product under study need to be quantified (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). This step can be conducted by means of a framework that provides calculation guidelines for the quantification of LULUC impacts. In this step, the data collection of the LULUC characteristics are used to quantify the LULUC impacts. As explained in the introduction (Chapter 1), the research objective is to enable progression of method development for LULUC frameworks. Specifically, the UNEP-SETAC framework for LULUC impacts it the subject under study in this thesis, which will be further explained in Chapter 4.

Third, the LULUC GHG impacts need to be attributed to the agricultural product under study in the LCA study. There are two main ways to attribute LULUC emissions to the agricultural product. In an ideal situation, the used database already contains an environmental intervention that matches the characteristics of the LULUC activities and a corresponding characterisation factor. Then, the LCA practitioner itself does not have to quantify the LULUC emissions, thus can skip step 2. However, if the used database and the used impact assessment model do not contain the LULUC activity's environmental intervention and no corresponding CF exists, the LCA practitioner should create its own process for land use in the LCA software. Then, the LCA practitioner should use the results of step 2 (the quantified GHG emissions) and add them to the corresponding process as emissions to air.

# 3. Research approach

This chapter elaborates on the research approach that was used for conducting this thesis.

## 3.1 Mixed method research approach

To answer the research question, a mixed method approach was used that starts with theory building (inductive research) and follows with theory testing (deductive research). A mixed method approach focuses on collecting, analysing, and mixing both quantitative and qualitative data in a single study (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). The use of deductive and inductive approaches provides a better understanding of research problems than either approach alone (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011) and the strength of one approach can balance out the weaknesses of the other (Molina-Azorín & López-Gamero, 2016). The main purpose for which the mixed method approach is applied in environmental research is method development (Molina-Azorín & López-Gamero, 2016). The research objective is to enable progression of method development for LULUC frameworks, and therefore the mixed method approach suits best. The specific type of mixed method approach used is a 'mixed method exploratory sequential design' (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011).

The first part of the mixed method exploratory sequential design was inductive research, during which a qualitative literature review was used to build the model. First, a qualitative literature review was performed, which consisted of two parts. In the first part, literature was collected to understand how the UNEP-SETAC framework worked. In the second part, literature was used to reflect on the suitability of the UNEP-SETAC framework for the quantification of LULUC GHG emissions in LCA. Next, the literature review was used to build the model. The model was the improved conceptual framework for quantifying GHG emissions of LUC in LCA.

The second part of the mixed method exploratory sequential design was deductive research, in which quantitative data was used to test the model. For the purpose of deductive theory testing, case research was employed in a positivist manner (Bhattacherjee, 2012). The improved conceptual framework was tested by means of a comparative LCA case study that compared the LULUC GHG emissions of two alternative agricultural products. The results of the improved conceptual framework were compared with the results of the UNEP SETAC framework and other existing frameworks.

## 3.2 Research flow, methods and requirements

In this section, the requirements (data, research methods, tools) for each sub research question are explained. First, an overview will be provided of the research flow. The research flow diagram gives an overview of data, methods and tools that have been used to answer each sub research question (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1. Research flow diagram. Data sources: WoS= Web of Science; FAO= FAOSTAT; IPCC= International Panel of Climate Change. Tools: Me= Mendeley; Mi=Miro; X= Excel.

To answer the first two SQ's, a literature review was performed (during October 2023) by means of a snowball approach. The snowball procedure of Wohlin (2014) (Figure 3.2) was used.



Figure 3.2. Snowballing procedure by Wohlin (2014).

The start set of the snowballing approach comprised the UNEP-SETAC framework papers (Koellner et al., 2013; Milà i Canals et al., 2007). Forward and backward iterations were performed for the start set. Backward snowballing identifies new papers that have been cited by the paper that is being examined (Wohlin, 2014). Forward snowballing identifies new papers that have cited the paper that is being examined (Wohlin, 2014). Web of Science offered more options than Google Scholar to search for keywords and to use filters, so Web of Science was further used in the snowball procedure.

The 64 backward references of Milà i Canals et al. (2007) have been disregarded for further snowballing. Milà i Canals et al. (2007) was the first conceptual paper for a LUC framework in LCA, therefore its citations did not go into the desired depth for this thesis. Milà i Canals et al. (2007) was cited 361 times according to Web of Science. Snowballing forward was performed by using the keywords 'land-use change' and 'LCA' and by sorting 'citations: highest first'. This resulted in 91 hits. Of these 91 hits, 7 papers were selected based on their focus on LULUC frameworks in LCA (Table 3.1).

Authors and publication date	Title
Bessou et al. (2020)	Accounting for soil organic carbon role in land use contribution
	to climate change in agricultural LCA: which methods? Which
	impacts?
Brandão & Canals (2013)	Global characterisation factors to assess land use impacts on
	biotic production
Helin et al. (2013)	Approaches for inclusion of forest carbon cycle in life cycle
	assessment - a review
Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010)	Climatic impact of land use in LCA-carbon transfers between
	vegetation/soil and air
Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012)	Including CO <sub>2</sub> implications of land occupation in LCAs—method
	and example for livestock products
Liptow et al. (2018)	Accounting for effects of carbon flows in LCA of biomass-based
	products—exploration and evaluation of a selection of existing
	methods
Souza et al. (2015)	Assessing biodiversity loss due to land use with Life Cycle
	Assessment: are we there yet?

	able	3.1.	Snowball	results	of	Milà	i Canals	et	al.	(2007)	
--	------	------	----------	---------	----	------	----------	----	-----	--------	--

The same approach was followed for Koellner et al. (2013). Koellner et al. (2013) had cited 64 references. Through backward snowballing, only 1 paper (Chiarucci et al., 2010) was selected. Other papers were disregarded because they did not fit the scope, or they were already selected through snowballing for Milà i Canals et al. (2007). According to Web of Science, Koellner et al. (2013) have been cited 241 times. Snowballing forward was performed by using the keywords 'land-use change' and 'LCA' and by sorting 'citations: highest first'. This resulted in 57 hits. Of these 57 hits, 3 papers were selected based on their focus on LULUC frameworks in LCA (Table 3.2).

Author	Title				
Othoniel et al. (2016)	Assessment of Life Cycle Impacts on Ecosystem				
	Services: Promise, Problems, and Prospects				
Soimakallio et al. (2015)	Attributional life cycle assessment: is a land-use				
	baseline necessary?				
Soimakallio et al. (2016)	On the validity of natural regeneration in				
	determination of land-use baseline				

Table 3.2.	Snowball	results	of	Koellner	et	al.	(2013).
------------	----------	---------	----	----------	----	-----	---------

The extensive snowballing approach was stopped after the forward and backward snowballing procedure of the start set. Next to the extensive snowballing procedure, literature searches were performed through Web of Science and Google Scholar to search for the literature with the following characteristics: literature created by authors that frequent the snowballing literature set; literature that created independently from UNEP-SETAC (and thus did not appear in the snowballing method); and specific topics in a LULUC framework that needed more explanation or alternative views. All literature was collected in Mendeley.

SQ1 is "How are LULUC impacts quantified in the UNEP-SETAC framework?". The starting set of the snowball (i.e., Koellner et al., 2013 and Milà i Canals et al., 2007) formed the basis for answering SQ1, because that is the original literature of the UNEP-SETAC framework that is available. Moreover, additional literature was included in the review that extended the application of the framework, such as the inclusion of carbon impacts (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010). To answer SQ1, the framework was described objectively, without including evaluations or judgements, to ensure a clear distinction between the description of the framework for SQ1 and the evaluation of the framework for SQ2. The literature was analysed in Mendeley and Miro was used to create visual analyses.

SQ2 is "What are the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework?". Several steps were taken to research the weaknesses of the framework. First, initial thoughts about issues within the UNEP-SETAC framework were written down after answering SQ1. For example, these issues included claims that were not supported by science, or inconsistencies that were found within the framework. Second, from the snowball procedure, literature was reviewed that included evaluations or applications of the UNEP-SETAC framework. Third, a literature search was performed for specific topics that were included in the UNEP-SETAC framework. For newly found literature about specific topics, supporting and opposing views were included by means of forward and backward snowballing. When further literature searches did not result in new hits anymore, the literature search was stopped. Fourth, the collected evaluations from literature were combined with the initial issues that were found in the UNEP-SETAC framework. These reflections were used to take another look at the UNEP-SETAC literature, to identify if there were more weaknesses to be found. Fifth, all collected weaknesses were analysed and categorized. The literature was analysed in Mendeley and Miro was used to create visual analyses.

SQ3 is "How can the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework be resolved to achieve an improved conceptual framework?". The weaknesses of the framework (SQ2) were used as a basis to answer SQ3. The list of weaknesses was divided into two categories: 'essential to improve' and 'optional to improve'. Based on trial and error, several ideas were developed to improve the UNEP-SETAC framework. This was continued until one framework was created that resolved all weakness of the UNEP-SETAC that were essential to improve. Once these essential weaknesses were resolved, an attempt was made to alter the

framework to also improve weaknesses that were optional to improve. Finally, a comparative list was made of the differences between the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework.

SQ4 is "How do the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework compare in a comparative LCA case study of an agricultural product?". To answer this questions, a case study was designed. The requirements for the case study were as follows: the two compared products are alternatives of each other; the alternatives have different LULUC characteristics; and data is easily available for both alternatives. It was decided to also include two carbon footprinting (CFP) frameworks in the comparison, to illustrate the difference of the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework relative to the CFP frameworks. Data was mainly collected from IPCC and FAOSTAT and was added to the Excel spreadsheet. Next, the results were calculated for each framework. The differences in results are discussed based on the different characteristics of the frameworks and based on the analyses that were made in the previous SQs.

# 4. UNEP-SETAC framework for LU impacts

In this chapter, the UNEP-SETAC framework will be explained to the reader.

## 4.1 Introduction to the UNEP-SETAC framework

The UNEP-SETAC framework serves to quantify two different kinds of LULUC impacts: transformation and occupation. A transformation impact "occurs when the land properties are modified" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). An occupation impact occurs "when the current man-made properties are maintained [of an area of land]" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007).

Land transformation is "the change of a land area according to the requirements of a given new type of occupation process" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). Milà i Canals et al. (2007) and Koellner et al. (2013) use the term 'land transformation', which they perceive as the preferred term in LCA literature for 'LUC' (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010). However, outside of the LCA community, the term LUC is standardized. In this thesis, for consistency with the UNEP-SETAC framework, the term 'transformation' will be used in the context of the UNEP-SETAC framework. A well-known example of transformation is the transformation of rainforest to cropland.

Land occupation is "the use of a land area for a certain human-controlled purpose (e.g., agriculture) assuming no intended transformation of the land properties during this use" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). Occupation is also called LU (Liptow et al., 2018), however this is incorrect because LU includes land management impacts (IPCC, 2019), while occupation excludes land management impacts (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). In this thesis, for consistency with the UNEP-SETAC framework, the term 'occupation' will be used in the context of the UNEP-SETAC framework. Occupation can be measured in surface-time units (e.g., ha.yr), because it occupies an area of a land (e.g. 1 ha of cropland) over a certain time (e.g. 10 years). During occupation, it is assumed that there is no intended further transformation of the land characteristics (Lindeijer et al., 2002; Milà I Canals et al., 2007). An example of occupation is the occupation of land for annual cropland.

![](_page_28_Figure_6.jpeg)

Figure 4.1. Changes in land quality over time due to transformation and occupation.

Figure 4.1 shows an example of the change in land quality due transformation and occupation in the UNEP-SETAC framework. In the framework, the authors use the metric 'land quality' to measure the impact of transformation and occupation. Land quality is defined as "the capability of an ecosystem (or a mix of ecosystems at the landscape scale) to sustain biodiversity and to deliver services to the human society" (Koellner et al., 2013). Land quality can be represented by many different parameters that express the

"intrinsic value of biodiversity and natural landscape or the functional value of ecosystems in terms of their goods and services" (Koellner et al., 2013). One of the services of ecosystems is their capability to sequester carbon. The ability to sequester carbon can be expressed by carbon (in tonnes) that is measured in the soil, living biomass and dead matter. Thus, the quality metric can be expressed by the parameter 'Carbon (in tonnes/ha) in soil, living biomass and dead matter'.

The size of a transformation or occupation impact is "the difference between the effect on land quality from the studied case of land use and a suitable reference land use on the same area (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). The reference situation is what would have happened if the studied system would not have taken place. The studied system is the activity for which the impacts are calculated. In the context of GHG emissions, the impact of land transformation or occupation is the difference in carbon of the studied system versus the reference situation. The difference in carbon that is used to calculate the amount of GHG emissions that have entered the atmosphere: 1 tonne of carbon corresponds to an emission of 3.67 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> (44 molar mass CO<sub>2</sub> / 12 molar mass C = 3.67).

#### 4.2 The concept of regeneration

Essential in the UNEP-SETAC framework is the concept of regeneration. Milà i Canals et al. (2007) assume that after a change in land quality due to transformation or occupation, the forces of nature will restore the land quality to a new steady state, if occupation is absent (fallow land) (Figure 4.2). This restoration process is called (natural) relaxation (Milà i Canals et al., 2007) or regeneration (Koellner et al., 2013). For the remainder of this thesis, the term 'regeneration' will be used (unless the term 'relaxation' is used in a quote), because this is the term that is used in the most recent papers and regeneration is used in biology for the restoration of (for example) organisms and ecosystems after disturbance (e.g., Chazdon & Guariguata, 2016).

![](_page_29_Figure_4.jpeg)

Figure 4.2. Regeneration after occupation to a new steady state.

The regeneration time is the time it takes for the land quality to regenerate to a new steady state after the land is abandoned. According to the UNEP-SETAC workgroup (Koellner et al., 2013; Milà i Canals et al., 2007), the regeneration time mainly depends on the following factors:

- The impact pathway, which is dependent on the indicator of ecosystem quality being regenerated;
- The land quality of the studied system;
- The end state at which the regeneration reaches a steady state of land quality;
- The biogeographical conditions of the location.

## 4.3 Quantification of the transformation impact

The transformation impact is the difference between the effect on land quality from transformation (studied system) and the reference situation. The effect of transformation on land quality is a sudden drop in quality during the transformation and what is assumed to happen after the transformation. The authors of the UNEP-SETAC framework assume that the land quality will regenerate, if land occupation is absent.

![](_page_30_Figure_7.jpeg)

Figure 4.3. Impact of transformation (blue shaded area) on natural land without occupation (adapted from Milà i Canals et al., 2007).

In Figure 4.3,  $\Delta Q$  represents the change in land quality due to transformation, and the blue shaded area represents the total transformation impact. In the context of GHG emissions,  $\Delta Q$  represents the change in carbon in soil, biomass and dead matter (in tonnes/ha) at a certain point in time. Thus, the total impact of transformation can be calculated by taking the integral of  $\Delta Q$  over time (Eq. 4.1):

(Eq. 4.1) 
$$Transformation impact = A \times \int_{t_{Transformation}}^{t_{Regeneration}} \Delta Q \ dt = A \times \int_{t_{Transformation}}^{t_{Regeneration}} (QReference - QRegeneration) \ dt$$

where A (in ha) is the land area, *tTransformation* (in yr) is the time at which transformation takes place, *tRegeneration (in yr)* is the time after which regeneration has finished (reached its steady state) after transformation, *QReference* (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the quality of the reference situation, *QTransformation* (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the quality of land after transformation, *QRegeneration* (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the quality of the land during regeneration, and  $\Delta Q$  (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the difference in land quality due to transformation between the reference situation and the regeneration quality. Thus, the transformation impact (in carbon tonnes.year) is the total change in carbon due to transformation.

In the framework, the vertical drop in quality at *tTransformation* does not have a temporal dimension. The authors assume that the temporal dimension of transformation impacts can be neglected, because they reason that large transformation impacts could happen in a short time (Koellner et al., 2013). For example, cutting down a forest can happen very fast and thus the amount of carbon stored on that land area (in trees) decreases very fast.

![](_page_31_Figure_2.jpeg)

### 4.4 Quantification of the occupation impact

Figure 4.4. Impact of occupation (blue shaded area) (adapted from Milà i Canals et al., 2007).

The authors argue that without occupation, the land would have regenerated. They reason that due to occupation, the natural regeneration of the land is postponed for the duration of the occupation (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). They quantify the occupation impact as the difference between the natural regeneration after transformation (the reference situation), and the natural regeneration after occupation (the studied system) (Figure 4.4). In the content of GHG emissions, the occupation impact (in carbon tonnes.year) is the difference in carbon content in soil, biomass, and dead matter, between the studied system and the reference situation. This can be calculated by taking the difference between the integral of the natural regeneration after transformation (Eq. 4.2):

(Eq. 4.2)  

$$Occupation\ impact = A \times \int_{t_{Transformation}}^{t_{Regeneration_{O}}} \Delta Q\ dt = A \times \int_{t_{Transformation}}^{t_{Regeneration_{O}}} (QRegeneration_{T} - QRegeneration_{O})\ dt$$

where A (in ha) is the land area, tTransformation (in yr) is the time at which transformation takes place, tOccupation (in yr) is the time at which occupation ends, tRegeneration\_T (in yr) is the time after which regeneration has finished (reached its steady state) after transformation, tRegeneration\_O (in yr) is the time after which regeneration has finished (reached its steady state) after occupation, QReference (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the quality of the reference situation, QTransformation (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the quality of land after transformation, QRegeneration\_O (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the quality of the land during regeneration after transformation, QRegeneration\_T (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the quality of the land during regeneration after occupation, and  $\Delta Q$  (in carbon tonnes/ha) is the difference in land quality due to occupation between the studied system (relaxation after occupation) and the reference situation (relaxation after transformation).

#### 4.5 Combining transformation and occupation impacts

The impacts of transformation and occupation can be combined into one basic framework for transformation and occupation (Figure 4.5). For simplicity, from now on the quality changes are drawn linearly, instead of wavy like the pictures above.

![](_page_32_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 4.5. Simplified illustration of transformation impact (TI) and occupation impact (OI) for three land use types (LU1 in red; LU2 in green; and LU3 in blue) with different regeneration rates (tLU1, reg; tLU2, reg; and tLU3, reg) (reproduced from Koellner et al., 2013).

Figure 4.5 shows the UNEP-SETAC framework for three LU types with different regeneration rates (LU1 in red; LU2 in green; and LU3 in blue) (Koellner et al., 2013). The corresponding calculations can be found on the right sight of the figure. Instead of calculating the surface by means of integrals (as seen in the sections above), the authors now quantify the impact by means of geometry, for example calculating the surface of a triangle (0.5\*width\*height). At t1, transformation is conducted from the reference situation to LU type 1, which creates higher ecosystem quality. The transformation impact is given as the difference in ecosystem quality (Qref-QLU1) multiplied by the time it would take after abandoning LU1 to restore the reference. Both the transformation (area I) and occupation impact (area II) result in negative values, thus an increase in ecosystem quality. At t3, transformation is conducted from the reference situation to LU type 2, where the transformation (area III) and occupation (area IV) both have damaging effects on ecosystem quality. At t4, transformation is conducted from the reference situation to LU type 2, subtracting the impact of transformation from the reference situation to LU2 from the impacts of transformation from the reference to LU3 (eq. V in Figure 4.5).

## 4.6 The choice of reference situation

Transformation and occupation impacts are calculated relative to a reference situation. However, Milà i Canals et al. (2007) and Koellner et al. (2013) have different opinions about what a suitable reference situation is.

Milà i Canals et al. (2007) suggest using the term dynamic reference situation. 'Dynamic' highlights that the reference situation can change over time (Koponen et al., 2018), i.e. that the natural situation is influenced over time by external factors. The dynamic reference situation should be the non-use of the area, but what the non-use situation is, depends on the chosen LCA mode. With attributional LCA (ALCA), the LCA study should include all impacts caused by the studied system, compared to a situation where this activity would not have taken place (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). According to Milà i Canals et al. (2007), the reference situation for ALCA should be the steady state that is achieved by natural regeneration. Depending on the biogeochemical conditions, the steady state achieved by natural regeneration could be equal to the previous land quality, lower, or higher. With consequential LCA (CLCA), the LCA study should focus "on the effects of substitutions among alternative product systems" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007; Weidema, 2001). Milà i Canals et al. (2007) argue that CLCA study should only consider the transformation due to the studied system, compared to an alternative system. The alternative LU system is the most likely LU if the land was not used for the studied purpose. What the most likely alternative system might be and how it should be determined according to Milà i Canals et al. (2007), is unclear.

Koellner et al., (2013) propose three main options to describe the reference. The first option is Potential Natural Vegetation (PNV), "which describes the expected state of mature vegetation in the absence of human intervention" (Chiarucci et al., 2010), which is similar to natural regeneration of Milà i Canals et al. (2007). Data for PNV is available in satisfactory quality for many biogeographical regions (Koellner et al., 2013). The second option is "to use the (quasi-) natural land cover predominant in global biomes and ecoregions as a reference when assessing land use impact on a global scale". Thus, the reference situation is the regeneration towards the quasi-natural land cover. Koellner et al. (2013) uses 'quasi-natural' to explain that while certain parameters can be completely regenerated in specific conditions (for example carbon in soil), others might not (e.g., extinction of species), thus an ecosystem will never be the same as before. The third option is the current mix of land uses as reference as proposed for Europe (Koellner & Scholz, 2008), however, this is impractical due to the change of the mix over time (Koellner et al., 2013). Koellner et al. (2013) mention that defining a reference situation is an area for further exploration and is a value choice (Koellner et al., 2013).

### 4.7 Assuming a future scenario after the studied system

The studied system refers to the activity for which the impacts are calculated. In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the studied system is either transformation or occupation (or both). The authors assume that it is unknown what happens to the land in the future, after the studied system. This is an issue, because the authors want to quantify all impacts of the studied system, thus also the future impacts that the studied system may cause. Therefore, assumptions need to be made regarding the future scenario after the studied system.

Milà i Canals et al. (2007) propose two possible future scenarios after the studied system. The first possible scenario is land abandonment after the studied system (Figure 4.6a & 4.6c). In that case, the quantified impact is the difference between natural regeneration and the reference situation. The alternative possible scenario is continued land use in the future (Figure 4.6b & 4.6d). Then, it is assumed that the current occupation continues infinitely. In that case, the impact is the difference between continued occupation and the natural regeneration. The impact is calculated until the end of the modelling period (Chapter 4.8), and that quantified impact is attributed to the studied system (Milà i Canals et al., 2007).

![](_page_34_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 4.6a. Transformation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land transformation and the assumed future is regeneration.

![](_page_34_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 4.6b. Transformation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land transformation and the assumed future is continued occupation.

![](_page_34_Figure_4.jpeg)

![](_page_34_Figure_5.jpeg)

Figure 4.6c. Occupation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land occupation and the assumed future is regeneration.

Figure 4.6d. Occupation impact (blue shaded area) if the studied system is land occupation and the assumed future is continued occupation.

In contrast with Milà i Canals et al. (2007), Koellner et al. (2013) do not consider the alternative of continued land use as a possibility for the future. To quantify the total impacts of the studied system, Koellner et al. (2013) assumes that the future scenario after the studied system is natural regeneration.

## 4.8 The choice of modelling period

In the examples provided earlier of the quantification of transformation (Figure 4.3) and occupation impacts (Figure 4.4), the impact could be calculated because the blue surface in the graph is enclosed by the lines of the reference situation and the studied system. However, it can also happen that the reference situation and the studied system do not completely enclose a surface. For example, if the future scenario of the studied system is continued occupation (Figure 4.6b & 4.6d) or if the regeneration of the studied system does not reach the reference situation, a permanent impact occurs (Figure 4.7) (Koellner et al., 2013). In the situations where the reference situation and the studied system do not enclose a surface in the graph, defining a modelling period is necessary to enclose the surface in the graph.

The modelling period defines the timeframe over which the difference in quality due to the land transformation is integrated. Milà i Canals et al. (2007) suggest that impacts should be calculated over two modelling periods: 1) "overall impacts (baseline) over an infinite or very long term, at least until a new steady state is reached both for the reference and the studied system" and 2) "100 years as a shorter term with likely smaller uncertainties". According to Milà i Canals et al. (2007), "the impacts on ecosystem quality should be assessed at least until a new steady state in ecosystem quality is reached by natural or human-induced relaxation". In other words, Milà i Canals et al. (2007) recommend to use a modelling period that is (at least) as long as the regeneration time. However, Koellner et al. (2013)

deviate from that, saying that it creates inconsistencies between transformation types (e.g., regeneration from cropland to grassland has a shorter regeneration time than cropland to tropical rainforest) and it would not be feasible in background systems (e.g., life cycle inventory databases) (Koellner et al., 2013). Instead, they recommend choosing an arbitrary and finite modelling period (Koellner et al., 2013). The UNEP-SETAC framework recommends a modelling period of 500 years, as it resembles the duration of the long-term natural processes (Koellner et al., 2013).

## 4.9 Quantifying permanent impacts

Permanent impacts can occur if the new steady state of the studied system is not equal to the reference situation (Milà i Canals et al., 2007) or if the regeneration towards the reference situation exceeds the modelling period (Koellner et al., 2013). Milà i Canals et al. (2007) and Koellner et al. (2013) are not in consensus about how to deal with permanent impacts.

Milà i Canals et al. (2007) suggest including a qualitative note in the interpretation phase that permanent impacts are detected. Or alternatively, the impact size can be calculated by assuming that the dynamic reference situation is reached after an unrealistic large regeneration time (e.g., 10 000 years).

![](_page_35_Figure_4.jpeg)

Figure 4.7. Calculation of permanent impacts caused by transformation at t1.

Koellner et al. (2013) calculated the permanent impacts by multiplying the difference in quality (between the reference situation and the new steady state) by the area and the modelling period (Figure 4.7). Impacts after the modelling period (in this example 500 years) were not included (in Figure 4.7 after 500 years). Koellner et al. (2013) recommend to express permanent transformation impacts as 'quality.year. However, the authors mentioned that the permanent impacts can also be expressed without choosing an (arbitrary) modelling period (Koellner et al., 2013). Without the modelling period (also called time horizon), the permanent impact is not expressed in 'quality.year'. However, temporary transformation and occupation impacts are expressed in 'quality.year', which allows them to aggregate these impacts (Koellner et al., 2013). Therefore, they recommend expressing the permanent impact as 'quality.year', to be able to aggregate transformation, occupation and permanent impacts.

However, the UNEP-SETAC working group is not in consensus whether the aggregation of permanent transformation, temporary transformation and occupation impacts is justified. Permanent impacts represent "diminishing options for future development of a piece of land", while occupation and transformation impacts "rather describe actual, temporary impacts occurring during the occupation/regeneration phase" (Koellner et al., 2013). Therefore, "it can be argued that aggregation of temporary and permanent impacts is equivalent to aggregation of different impact categories" (Koellner et al., 2013). Additionally, the choice of modelling period over which the permanent impacts
are considered is a value choice. The UNEP-SETAC workgroup has not reached consensus over aggregating or not, and if so, what the modelling period should be.

### 4.10 The choice of amortization period

Land transformation impacts and permanent impacts have to be allocated to the output (functional unit) of a parcel of land (Koellner et al., 2013). This allocation process is called amortization, and the timeframe that is used is called the amortization period or allocation period (Koellner et al., 2013).

The amortization period is the period to which the change in quality is allocated. This differs from the modelling period; the modelling period determines the period over which the change in quality is included in the calculation. For example, if the modelling period is 100 years, the change in quality after those 100 years is not included in the calculation of transformation quality impacts. If the amortization period is 20 years, it means that the change in quality within the 100 years is attributed to output of the land in the first 20 years after the land transformation.

According to Koellner et al. (2013), there is currently not a "clear, scientifically robust alternative" for the amortization period. They recommend using a 20-year amortization period "in line with standards and regulations for land use-derived greenhouse gas emissions allocation" (e.g., IPCC). An amortization period of 20 years "represents a good compromise between allocating them all to the first year (and thus quickly losing sight of the effects of transformation) and using a long allocation period (which could lead to a quasi-elimination of transformation impacts in the LCA results)" (Koellner et al., 2013). Koellner et al. (2013) use the 20-year amortization period for both temporary and permanent transformation impacts. It is not explicitly mentioned by Koellner et al. (2013), but it seems like occupation impacts are not allocated based on an amortization period, because they seem to be (equally) allocated over the years of the occupation period. Alternatively, Koellner et al. (2013) mentions that "a linear depreciation along the regeneration pathway could be applied" for transformation impacts.

### 4.11 Connection to the climate impact category

In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the authors use the metric 'land quality' to quantify the impacts. In the context of GHG emissions, this leads to an environmental flow of CO<sub>2</sub> with the unit tonnes.year. However, commonly used impact assessment models are not able to connect that flow to the climate change impact category. According to Bessou et al. (2020), the only impact assessment model that connects the UNEP-SETAC framework to the climate change impact category is the Climate Regulation Potential (CRP) framework by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010). In the following paragraphs, the CRP framework will be explained.

The key concept of the CRP framework is that the impact of  $CO_2$  does not only depend on the  $CO_2$  quantity but also the residence time of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere. Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) use the term 'average/mean stay in the air' to refer to the residence time, but for the remainder of this thesis, 'residence time' is the preferred term as it is in line with literature. In the CRP framework, Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) calculate the ratio between the average residence time in the atmosphere of biogenic carbon (of the studied LULUC system) versus fossil carbon. The ratio is used to determine the impact of LULUC relative to fossil carbon.

## 4.11.1 Average residence time of fossil carbon in the atmosphere based on the Bern carbon cycle

Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) determine the average residence time of fossil carbon in the atmosphere based on the Bern carbon cycle (Figure 4.8). According to the Bern carbon cycle model, a  $CO_2$  unit pulse gradually disappears over time from the atmosphere, due to the uptake of the  $CO_2$  by the various carbon pools (e.g., terrestrial, ocean). Thus, the Bern carbon cycle is based on the current conditions of the earth. The line in Figure 4.8 portrays the (average) fraction of the  $CO_2$  emissions pulse that is still left after N years. On average, one unit of  $CO_2$  will decrease to 0.36 units after 100 years, 0.23 units after 500

years and 0.22 units is expected to remain in the atmosphere for "many millennia" (IPCC, 2007). The Bern carbon cycle model is valid for 2000 years, but even with an infinite t, the average  $CO_2$  pulse in the atmosphere would not reach zero.



Figure 4.8. Fraction of a CO<sub>2</sub> emission pulse which is still in the air after N years according to the Bern carbon cycle model (reproduced from Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010).

Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) calculate the residence time in the atmosphere of an average  $CO_2$  pulse over time. They integrate the Bern carbon cycle over a chosen time horizon and divide it by the chosen time horizon to achieve an average residence time in the atmosphere of an average  $CO_2$  pulse. The average fraction of an  $CO_2$  pulse in the graph would never reach zero, and the quantified surface under the graph would be infinite. Thus, a cut-off (i.e., an arbitrary chosen time horizon) is needed. After the time horizon, the impact of the remaining  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere is not taken into account anymore. Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) propose an (arbitrary chosen) time horizon of 500 years. With a time horizon of 500 years, they quantify a mean residence time in the atmosphere for fossil  $CO_2$  of 157 years.

### 4.11.2 Average residence time of biogenic carbon in the atmosphere

Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) determine the average residence time of biogenic carbon differently based on whether the biogenic carbon originated from land transformation impact or land occupation impact.

For transformation, Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) determine the average residence time of biogenic carbon based on the regeneration time. Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) assume that the loss of biogenic carbon of the land is equal to the amount of biogenic carbon entering the atmosphere. Consequently, they reason that the regeneration time is the time it takes for the (same) atmospheric biogenic carbon to leave the atmosphere and re-enter the land again. According to Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010), the average residence time in the atmosphere is 50% of the regeneration time, because it is the average between 0% of the regeneration time (start of transformation) and 100% of the regeneration time (the end of the regeneration time after transformation) (Figure 4.9) (Eq. 4.3). Note, this is only true in case of a linear regeneration time (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010).

(Eq. 4.3) Average residence time of occupation =  $\frac{0 + tRegeneration}{2} = 0.5tRegeneration$ 



Figure 4.9. The average residence time in the atmosphere of transformation impact is 50% of the regeneration time.

For occupation, Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) reason that every year of occupation is responsible for delaying the regeneration of the land with one year, thereby keeping the CO<sub>2</sub> one year longer in the atmosphere. Therefore, Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) reason that the average residence time in the atmosphere of one year occupation is one year.

### 4.11.3 Calculating the CRP by means of the duration factor

To calculate the CRP value, Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) multiply the duration factor (df) with the carbon transfer. The carbon transfer is the carbon transferred to the air due to the transformation. The duration factor is the average residence time in the atmosphere of the studied system's biogenic carbon divided by the average residence time in the atmosphere of fossil carbon. Thus, for occupation the duration factor is 1/157, and for transformation, the duration factor is 0.5\*tRegeneration/157. If for example, the transformation from forest to cropland leads to a carbon transfer of 135 tonnes/ha, the carbon transfer for both occupation and transformation is 135 tonnes/ha. The CRP is expressed as 'fossil-combustion-equivalent' carbon in tonnes/ha transferred to air. This way, Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) can sum the biogenic carbon as 'fossil-combustion-equivalent' into the LCA indicator for global warming.

### 4.12 List of assumptions

Table 4.1 lists the assumptions that can be recognised in the framework. The left column of the table outlines the assumptions that are made in the UNEP-SETAC framework. In the middle column, it can be found in which literature this assumption was recognised. In the right column can be found why this assumption can be discredited. The implications of some of these assumptions will be explained in Chapter 5.

Nr	Assumption	Recognised	Counterargument
		by	
1	Discrete land use types are	(Koellner et	Parameters that express ecosystem quality can
	sufficient for an assessment of	al., 2013)	vary considerably within one LU type (Eigenbrod
	land use impacts		et al., 2010)
2	Ecosystem quality remains	(Koellner et	Quality can change (Milà i Canals et al., 2007).
	constant over occupation time	al., 2013)	The use of land during occupation may increase
			or decrease soil carbon due to fertilizer or
			tillage (IPCC 2000, section 4.4.1) (Müller-Wenk
			& Brandão, 2010)

Table 4.1. Assump	tions made in t	the UNEP-SETAC	framework.
-------------------	-----------------	----------------	------------

3	Time and area of occupation are substitutable; i.e., a small area occupied for a long time has the same impact or can deliver the same output as a large area occupied for a short time.	(Koellner et al., 2013)	Size and time can matter for the ecological impact (Koellner & Scholz, 2007)
4	Transformation time is negligible	(Koellner et al., 2013)	Transformations that worsen ecosystem quality often require little time, however transformations that improve the ecosystem quality might not (Koellner et al., 2013). Unrealistic for biodiversity, changes can be delayed (Souza et al., 2015). Also not true for processes in soil regarding carbon, only stabilization after a disruption is already assumed to take 20 years (IPCC, 2006)
5	Regeneration is linear	(Koellner et al., 2013)	In the UNEP-SETAC framework, it is often recommended to calculate impacts until a new steady state has reached. However, a recovery process is dynamic (and possibly non-linear) and may have multiple equilibrium states (Souza et al., 2015).
6	"Regeneration is independent from land use history; i.e. only the last land use before abandonment is important and time of occupation is not relevant"	(Koellner et al., 2013)	Not appropriate for many cases (Koellner et al., 2013)
7	Regeneration is independent from landscape configuration	(Koellner et al., 2013)	The duration of the regeneration is dependent on the area's size (because larger areas take a longer time regenerating than smaller areas) (Milà i Canals et al., 2007)
8	Biodiversity and multiple ecosystem services are independent;	(Koellner et al., 2013; Othoniel et al., 2016)	Research shows that there is interaction between them (Balvanera et al., 2006; Bennett et al., 2009; Raudsepp-Hearne et al., 2010; Seppelt et al., 2011)
9	The ecological impact is linearly increasing with the intervention;	(Koellner et al., 2013)	It might respond non-linear (Carpenter et al., 2009)
10	There is no interaction between land use and other drivers such as climate change."	(Koellner et al., 2013)	Combined effects can lead to non-additive reactions (Koellner et al., 2013).
11	The framework does not assume active restoration	(Koellner et al., 2013)	It is uncertain (according to the authors) what the effect is for ecosystem services on the larger scales.
12	The relation between quality loss and land use area is linear	(Souza et al., 2015)	Not always true.
13	There is no temporary carbon storage in biobased-products.	This thesis	If, for example, felled trees contain carbon, but are not immediately burned but used for furniture, there is a long time delay between carbon loss in soil and vegetation, and the emission of carbon.

### 5. Reflecting on the UNEP-SETAC framework

In this chapter, the UNEP-SETAC framework is evaluated based on literature and conclusions that were derived from the previous chapters of this thesis.

### 5.1 CLCA reasoning

The UNEP-SETAC framework provides the LCA practitioner with methodological choices. For example, Milà i Canals et al. (2007) argue that the reference situation should be chosen depending on the LCA mode: ALCA or CLCA. This implies that the authors perceive the UNEP-SETAC framework suitable for both ALCA and CLCA. However, in this thesis it is argued that the UNEP-SETAC framework is largely based on consequential thinking and is therefore not suitable in its current form for an ALCA study. In next paragraphs, it will be explained why the UNEP-SETAC framework is largely based on CLCA.

### 5.1.1 Double counting of emissions

In ALCA, the system boundary of one study should not overlap with a system boundary of another product, i.e. there should be no double counting of emissions (Brander et al., 2009). Brander (2015) argues that ALCA should lead to additive results of all anthropogenic emissions, relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline: "In theory, if one were to conduct ALCAs of all final products, one would end up with the total observed environmental burdens worldwide" (Life Cycle Initiative, 2011). This is also referred to as the 100% rule (Finnveden et al., 2022). The 100% rule could only be correct if one would (hypothetically) be able to only sum the impact of 'final products', where 'final products' are defined as "as a product that is directly consumed by humans and not used in the life cycle of another product" (Schaubroeck et al., 2021). However, in practice, pinpointing final products according to this definition could pose a challenge (Finnveden et al., 2022).

The UNEP-SETAC framework does not comply with the additive character of ALCA, because of the following examples. First, in the UNEP-SETAC framework, forgone sequestration due to occupation is counted as factual emissions (Chapter 5.2.1). Second, measurable transformation impacts are discounted on hypothetical unlikely future regeneration (Chapter 5.2.2.1). Third, when continued occupation is the assumed future scenario, forgone sequestration due to occupation could be counted in perpetuity (Brander, 2015) (Chapter 5.2.2.2). Thus, a sum of all land transformation and land occupation impacts calculated by means of the UNEP-SETAC framework, does not equal to a sum of all anthropogenic land transformation and occupation impacts in the world.

Some authors counterargue that "bookkeeping of absolute (observable) emissions, such as all the global consumption-based emissions, does not describe the environmental impacts of occupying land which is not in natural steady state" (Soimakallio et al., 2015). Soimakallio et al. (2015) argue that a bookkeeping of absolute (observable) flows only may be in contradiction with the 100% rule of final products in ALCA. However, in Chapter 5.2.1, it is argued that occupation does not have measurable impacts. Thus, bookkeeping of observable emissions would still correctly describe the impacts of LU related activities and is therefore not in contradiction with the 100% rule for final products in ALCA.

In CLCA, the system boundary of one product may overlap with another one and thus emissions could be double counted (Brander et al., 2009). CLCA estimates changes in emissions relative to an alternative and therefore does not quantify absolute existing emissions (Brander et al., 2009). Since both are true for the UNEP-SETAC framework, we consider the UNEP-SETAC framework in line with CLCA.

## 5.1.2 Combining CLCA and ALCA to capture the consequences of a decision

Even though there is a wide variety of existing LCA modes (Guinée et al., 2018), the debate about LCA modes in the LULUC LCA community only concerns the difference between ALCA and CLCA (Brander, 2015; Soimakallio et al., 2015). According to Life Cycle Initiative (2011), ALCA provides information on what portion of global burdens can be associated with a specific product life cycle, while CLCA provides information on the environmental burdens that occur, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of a decision (usually represented by changes in demand for a product). Brander (2015) recognises the trend that in LULUC literature, ALCA is perceived as needing to "capture the total consequences of an activity (i.e., both direct and indirect effects), possibly in recognition of the principle that decision-making should be based on an understanding of the total consequences of the decision at hand. However, capturing the total consequences of an activity is not in line with the widely accepted definition of ALCA by the Life Cycle Initiative (2011).

As described in Chapter 5.1.1, it seems like the authors of the UNEP-SETAC framework have tried to capture all environmental impacts as a consequence of a decision. Therefore, the framework is more aligned with the characteristics of a CLCA study, and not suitable in its current form for an ALCA study. However, the UNEP-SETAC framework is used in ALCA studies. Brander et al. (2009) argue that failure to distinguish between CLCA and ALCA can result in a combination of the two modes within a single study, leading to a misinterpretation of results. A good example of the effects of combining two LCA modes within one study, can be found in the case study about margarine by Milà i Canals et al. (2013).

Milà i Canals et al. (2013) have performed a case study for margarine, where they have assessed the impacts of land transformation and occupation by means of the UNEP-SETAC framework. The case study was a partial descriptive ALCA, and the FU of the study was 500 g of packaged margarine used as a spread in the UK and Germany. The inventory flows were assessed using new CF for new land use-related environmental impact categories published in the paper: biodiversity damage potential (BDP) (De Baan et al., 2013), climate regulation potential (CRP) (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010), production potential (BPP) (Brandão & Canals, 2013), freshwater regulation potential (FWRP) (Saad et al., 2013), erosion regulation potential (ERP) (Saad et al., 2013), water purification potential physicochemical filtration (WPP-PCF) (Saad et al., 2013), and water purification potential mechanical filtration (WPP-MF) (Saad et al., 2013). Milà i Canals et al. (2013) have compared the contribution of transformation and occupation to these impact categories. They found that land occupation (compared to transformation) was the major contributor for all impact categories (except WWP-MF).

There are several main explanations for the high contribution of occupation according to the authors. First, the same reference situation ('regeneration to a potential quality or natural climax steady state') was used for both transformation and occupation. Second, transformation does not always occur and when it does, it is equally allocated over 20 years. As a consequence, "land occupation tends to dominate the impact results unless very long regeneration times are considered in the calculation of transformation CF". This is because the occupation impact was calculated independent from the regeneration time (surface of a parallelogram) and the transformation impact because larger with a larger regeneration time. Moreover, the large occupation impact is mainly caused because of the conceptualisation of the occupation impact: Milà i Canals et al. (2013) recognise that they compared the current occupation quality with an "idealistic potential which might never be reached again in reality".

The authors perceive the large occupation impact as a limitation of the UNEP-SETAC framework, because it does not conform to policy. In policy, more attention is directed towards the impact of transformation, instead of occupation (Milà i Canals et al., 2013). They recommend that "the results of the impact assessment need to be interpreted as a view of the differences in biodiversity or ecosystem services that are being maintained with respect to an ideal or theoretical potential rather than a description of the actual change in land quality" (Milà i Canals et al., 2013).

In this case study, it is clearly visible that the authors are confusing the differences between ALCA and CLCA. They argue that this ALCA case study could support decisions that consider "long-term effects of hypothetical land use policies", however "if decision makers wish to consider shorter-term effects of land use change, the modelling framework and associated impact categories could actually lead to the wrong decision" (Milà i Canals et al., 2013). Brander (2015) rightfully counterargues that "perverse outcomes are to be wholly expected if attributional LCA is used (on its own) for decision-making, precisely because the method does not necessarily capture the total impacts of the decision at hand (Plevin et al., 2014)".

### 5.2 Consequences of the framework's design

### 5.2.1 Occupation impacts

Due to occupation, natural regeneration is postponed by the time duration of occupation. UNEP-SETAC tries to measure the impact of postponing regeneration with the 'quality' indicator, by comparing the current situation (occupation) with 'what could have happened' (regeneration). This leads them to quantifying the occupation impact as the quality difference between 'natural regeneration after occupation' and 'natural regeneration before occupation', in the unit 'carbon tonnes/year' for GHG emissions.

According to Koellner et al. (2013), occupation impacts describe actual impacts ("occupation and describe actual, temporary transformation impacts rather impacts occurring during occupation/regeneration phase"). However, the framework assumes that during occupation, the quality of land is always kept stable on purpose (Milà iil Canals et al., 2007). This means that the measurable quality change during occupation is zero. As a counterargument, Milà i Canals et al., (2007) argue that even "if a land occupation process does not cause any sizeable quality change of the occupied land, it may nevertheless cause an impact, because the forces of nature are prevented from changing the land qualities during the occupation time". In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the occupation impacts are quantified as the difference between the studied system (occupation) and an alternative system (regeneration). However, an evidence based analytical accounting method (i.e., ALCA) should not quantify impacts based on an alternative scenario. When a factual event happens, it automatically means that there are several possible alternatives that did not happen. However, the impact of an event should not only be determined based on the relative impact compared to one alternative. This is broadly what CLCA does, which is confusing because it can lead to negative impacts and consequently wrong interpretations of the impact of a product system. Brander (2015) recognizes that the postponement of natural regeneration follows consequential logic instead of attributional logic, because it considers what would happen to the land in absence of the studied land use. Even though a delay of the natural regeneration is a consequence of land occupation, it is not an impact relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline, thus it does not belong in ALCA (Brander, 2015).

For GHG emissions, the current UNEP-SETAC method leads to an occupation impact in 'carbon tonnes.year'. However, occupation has no measurable impact in 'carbon tonnes.year', as there are no measurable carbon uptakes or emissions if the occupation quality is constant. Thus what the authors wrongfully try to quantify as an emission in 'carbon tonnes.year' is instead 'forgone sequestration': the difference in carbon sequestration due to using the land for the FU, relative to abandoning the land and letting it regenerate. An inventory flow 'occupation' in 'carbon tonnes.year' should not be characterized in the current impact assessment model for climate change, as occupation (under the assumption that quality remains constant) does not create measurable GHG emissions.

Additionally, while the assumption of constant occupation quality seems practical, it also seems too simplistic: "The ecosystems and their provision of services thus keep evolving over time, following natural mechanisms and under the influence of different pressures both linked and nonlinked to the product system under study" (Othoniel et al., 2016; Seppelt et al., 2011). If one assumes a constant quality during land occupation, it implies that "any land occupation can be durably sustained, whatever are its location, the surrounding environment or the history of land uses" (Othoniel et al., 2016).

### 5.2.2 Discounting or double counting impacts

Milà i Canals et al., (2007) recognize two options for the land situation after the current system: regeneration (abandonment) or continued occupation. Koellner et al. (2013) did not mention any possible scenarios for after the current system. It is suspected that they implicitly assume that after land transformation or occupation, land will be abandoned and will regenerate. However, land abandonment is not a realistic scenario; even if society succeeds in taking measures to reduce land demand, cropland is still expected to increase between 5% to 20% between 2010 and 2050 (FAO, 2018; IPCC, 2019). Therefore, it is much more likely that the land use after the studied system is continued occupation. Nevertheless, any assumption regarding the hypothetical future scenario has an effect on the quantification of environmental impacts.

### 5.2.2.1 Assuming future land abandonment

Due to land transformation, quality is lost, but instead of assuming that land transformation impacts are forever lost (Figure 4.6a), the authors assume that land transformation impacts will be recovered due to regeneration (Figure 4.6b). They quantify the land transformation by discounting the measurable land transformation quality loss with potential future regeneration. This means that the UNEP-SETAC framework takes an advance on the future, while the future scenario 'regeneration' is unlikely to happen. Thus, in the UNEP-SETAC framework, the emitter receives a "discount" on an emission that it factually caused, due to the unlikely hypothesis that some moment in time, somebody else will take up those emissions. This results in a lower quantified land transformation impact than the measurable impact.

Taking an advance on the future is highly debatable, also in policy. This can be demonstrated by the nitrogen discussion in the Netherlands. To put it simply, the Dutch government provided permits for emissions based on a hypothetical future decrease of the nitrogen emissions. The Dutch Council of State ruled that an advance on future possible decrease of emissions is not according to European law and that decreases should be measurable in order to take them into account when permitting new projects (Raad van State, 2019).

### 5.2.2.2 Assuming future continued occupation

Milà i Canals et al. (2007) also mention the possible scenario of assuming continued occupation; however, that scenario also creates the possibility of double counting forgone sequestration due to occupation in perpetuity (Brander, 2015). In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the forgone sequestration is quantified for each year of occupation, which could be continuing indefinitely in case it is assumed that occupation is the continued future scenario (Figure 4.6d). Brander (2015) recognizes that "unless there is a way of allocating (i.e., amortize) the forgone sequestration across all future production from the land, the same forgone sequestration may be double-counted ad infinitum".

### 5.2.3 Regeneration time

To quantify transformation and occupation impacts in the UNEP-SETAC framework, regeneration data is needed. For soil carbon, Koellner et al. (2013) propose to use the regeneration times values for specific transformation types provided by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) for the impact pathway climate regulation potential (Chapter 5.4). However, regeneration times data is hardly available (Koellner et al., 2013). The data that is used often lacks a scientific foundation and is often outdated or hypothetical (e.g., Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010). This research gap was already identified in 2010 (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010), but since then not much has been improved. This is a source of uncertainty in the framework, because the impact results of land transformation and occupation are highly sensitive to regeneration times (Koellner et al., 2013).

### 5.2.4 Assigning permanent impacts based on the modelling period

In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the authors make a distinction between temporary and permanent transformation impacts. Whether a permanent transformation is detected, depends on the modelling period and the assumed quality of the land after the studied system. The modelling period is a value choice for which the UNEP-SETAC proposes 500 years (Chapter 4.8). The assumed quality of the land after the studied system can be land abandonment, i.e. regeneration, or continued occupation (indefinitely) (Chapter 4.7). These options create many possible situations in which permanent impacts occur or do not occur.

There are two different types of permanent impacts: i) the studied land quality will "never" reach the reference situation and ii) the studied land quality will not reach the reference situation within the set modelling period. The first impact is considered to be a 'true' permanent impact: even with an infinite modelling period, the assumed land quality after the system (either regeneration or continued occupation) will stabilize at a quality that is different from the reference situation. The second permanent impact type is dependent on the value choice of the modelling period.

If we assume land abandonment after the studied system, there are currently three possible situations regarding permanent impacts. First, impacts could be 'truly' permanent, meaning that permanent impacts will be detected regardless of the size of the modelling period, because the regeneration will stabilize before it reaches the reference situation (Figure 5.1a). Second, the regeneration could reach the reference before the end of the modelling period, meaning that there are no permanent impacts detected (Figure 5.1b). Third, the regeneration does not reach the reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, he reference before the end of the modelling period, leading to a permanent impact (Figure 5.1c).





Figure 5.1a. 'True' permanent impact: the regeneration will never reach the reference situation.





Figure 5.1c. Permanent impact: regeneration does not reach the reference before the end of the modelling period.

If we assume continued occupation, with (Figure 5.2a) or without (Figure 5.2b) a modelling period, permanent impacts are detected. These impacts are also 'truly' permanent, because if we assume an infinite continued occupation, there will be an infinite permanent impact. Of course, this is only true if the occupation quality is not equal to the reference quality.







Figure 5.2b. Continued occupation without a modelling period leads to a (true) permanent impact.

These many options for permanent impacts show that the current modelling framework is not rigid enough for a consistent application of the concept of permanent impacts. The modelling period is currently either determined by an arbitrary chosen number within a framework or chosen by the LCA practitioner itself. The modelling period is a value choice that determines whether an impact is permanent. Therefore, it does not really provide information on whether an impact is permanent. It only indicates whether the regeneration of the studied system reaches the reference situation within or outside of the modelling period (which leads to a detected "permanent" impact).

As mentioned in Chapter 4.9, Koellner et al. (2013) recommend to express permanent transformation impacts in the context of GHG emissions as carbon in the unit 'tonnes.year', which allows them to aggregate permanent transformation impacts with temporary transformation and occupation impacts. However, assigning a modelling period, and thereby making a distinction between temporary and permanent impacts and aggregating these impacts together, leads to a distortion of the quantified impacts. The size of the modelling period has a huge influence on the size of the total transformation impact and the relative importance of temporary versus permanent impacts. For example, a large modelling period leads to a larger total impact and a larger importance of temporary impacts (Figure 5.3a and 5.3b). Additionally, the formula to quantify impacts changes in case permanent impacts are detected (Figure 4.7).



Figure 5.3a. A larger modelling period leads to a larger total impact and a relative larger importance of temporary transformation and occupation impacts.



Next, these permanent impacts still must be amortized to a certain period (20 years recommended by Koellner et al., 2013), which creates inconsistency in the timeframes used within the framework. In the current framework it can happen that a very large permanent impact is quantified solemnly due to a very large modelling period, which subsequently needs to be amortized to a small amortization period, leading to a high LUC impact per year for a certain crop.

Above, it is shown that the modelling period has a large influence on the aggregated results. However, the authors mention that permanent impacts can also be expressed without choosing an (arbitrary) modelling period (Koellner et al., 2013). Even when one expresses permanent impacts in 'carbon tonnes' instead of 'carbon tonnes.year', the modelling period still influences the results. Due to the assigned modelling period, the temporary impacts can be smaller or larger (in carbon tonnes.year), simultaneously leading to larger or smaller permanent impacts (in carbon tonnes).

It can be debated whether one should make a distinction between temporary and permanent impacts at all. LCA currently does not make a distinction between temporary and permanent impacts. For example, the emissions coming from burning fossil fuels can be regarded as a permanent impact. However, in LCA these impacts are not 'flagged' as permanent and are not handled different than any other emissions. In the framework, the difference between permanent and temporary impacts is created by the assumption that impacts are temporary due to hypothetical regeneration. However, biological processes that remove the  $CO_2$  molecules from the atmosphere and take them up into the ocean or the terrestrial biosphere (Archer et al., 2009), do not differentiate between a  $CO_2$  molecule origination from a permanent carbon loss.

### 5.2.5 Aggregation of occupation and transformation

Koellner et al. (2013) perceive temporary transformation impacts and occupation impacts as the same type of impact, because they "describe actual, temporary (quality) impacts". Here, it is argued that transformation and occupation impacts are different. Transformation causes a measurable change in quality, which can be registered over the vertical quality axis of the UNEP-SETAC framework (Figure 5.4a). In contrast, the only measurable impact of occupation is a time delay (Chapter 5.2.1), which is a change over the horizontal time axis in the UNEP-SETAC framework (Figure 5.4b). In the context of GHG emissions, land transformation causes a measurable change in carbon content of the land. The quantified occupation impact in the UNEP-SETAC framework indicates the forgone sequestration, but occupation does not cause a measurable change in carbon content of the land (Chapter 5.2.1). Thus, it can be concluded that transformation and occupation impacts are not the same type of impact and they should not be aggregated.





Figure 5.4a. The measurable transformation impact is a drastic change in quality at time t (in red), where a possible time dimension is neglected. The blue shaded area shows the quantified transformation impact according to the UNEP-SETAC framework. Figure 5.4b. The measurable occupation impact is a delay in time (in red) of regeneration. The green shaded area shows the quantified occupation impact according to the UNEP-SETAC framework.

### 5.3 Methodological choices within framework

### 5.3.1 Choice of reference situation

#### 5.3.1.1 Differences between the first and second UNEP-SETAC paper

According to Milà i Canals et al. (2007), the reference situation should refer to a kind of 'non-use of the area', after which they recommended 'natural regeneration' for ALCA and an 'alternative system' for CLCA. Koellner et al. (2013) propose 3 options as reference situation (Potential Natural Vegetation (similar to natural regeneration); (quasi-) natural land cover; and current mix of land uses) and recommend using the second option, the (quasi-)natural land cover. According to Koellner et al. (2013), that is in accordance with the recommendations provided by Milà i Canals et al. (2007).

However, Milà i Canals et al. (2007) and Koellner et al. (2013) both have a different approach to the reference situation. Milà i Canals et al. (2007) base their reference situation on the chosen LCA mode (ALCA vs CLCA), where in both situations the reference situation should be focused on the 'non-use of the area'. Koellner et al. (2013) recommend the (quasi-)natural land cover and this is not influenced by the characteristics of the specific LCA study. For Koellner et al. (2013), the reference situation is independent of the type of impact, while for Milà i Canals et al. (2007) the reference situation is dependent on the type of impact. What they both have in common is that the reference situation is a hypothetical situation, and the future of the studied system is also based on a hypothesis. For both the natural regeneration (Milà i Canals et al., 2007) and the quasi-natural state (Koellner et al., 2013), it is unclear to researchers whether it refers to the historical land quality (pristine land) or the land quality of the regenerated state after the studied system (e.g., Cao et al., 2017; Liptow et al., 2018).



Figure 5.5. The reference 'quasi-natural land cover' is portrayed by horizontal red line (Modified from Koellner et al., 2013).

Figure 5.5 shows the reference scenario (the (quasi-)natural land cover) used by Koellner et al., (2013) in an example for the calculation of impacts. In this case, the (quasi-)natural land cover is the same throughout all transformation and occupation impacts (under the assumption that the quasi-natural land cover is constant over time). Koellner et al. (2013) recognize that a (quasi)-natural state identifies how far away the current system is from an idealistic state, and that might not be informative for policy makers that want to protect the current environment. A reference situation like quasi-natural state fails to address active restoration; any action on land will show loss of quality if it is not higher than the quasi-natural state. Active restoration is conducting an activity (e.g., reforestation) to restore the land, thereby increasing the restoration rate compared to natural restoration. In that case, even active restoration has

a negative impact (Souza et al., 2015). Milà i Canals et al. (2013) also encountered issues with the same reference situation for both transformation and occupation impacts in a case study for margarine. They found that if occupation and transformation impacts have the same reference situation, the occupation impacts tend to dominate (unless very long regeneration times are considered).



Figure 5.6a. Reference situation (in red) of transformation impacts, according to Milà i Canals et al. (2007).



Figure 5.6b. Reference situation (in red) of occupation impacts, according to Milà i Canals et al. (2007).

Contrary to Koellner et al. (2013), the natural regeneration reference for ALCA by Milà i Canals et al. (2007) seems dependent on the impact type. The hypothetical future situation of the studied system is compared with the hypothetical future situation without the studied system. Both hypothetical situations are based on natural regeneration, which is unlikely (Chapter 5.2.2.1). For transformation impacts, the reference situation is the natural regeneration before the transformation impact (Figure 5.6a). For occupation impacts, the reference situation should be the natural regeneration of the state before the occupation impacts (Figure 5.6b). Applying the reference 'natural regeneration' of Milà i Canals et al. (2007) leads to different versions of the natural regeneration, depending on the characteristics of the studied system<sup>2</sup>.

#### 5.3.1.2 Debates in literature about choosing a reference situation

PNV and natural regeneration seem to be often confused with each other in literature and the differences between them are not clear, as the definitions seem to change over time and across literature. However, PNV and natural regeneration are similar and therefore the arguments provided in the paragraphs below are true for both natural regeneration and PNV.

There are two main reasons why natural regeneration and PNV are not suitable for an ALCA study. First, a baseline is needed in ALCA "in order to separate out anthropogenic activities (the technosphere) from natural or non-anthropogenic processes (the ecosphere)", thus the baseline in ALCA should not include anthropogenic activities (Brander, 2015; Soimakallio et al., 2015). However, natural regeneration (and thus sequestration) can only exist due to anthropogenic activity, because land-use change has decreased the carbon stocks below their natural equilibrium (Brander, 2015). Second, 'natural regeneration' double counts carbon emissions if results of several, independent, LCA studies are summed over time (Brander, 2015; Soimakallio et al., 2015; Soimakallio et al., 2015). For example, if LCAs are conducted for consecutive periods of land

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note: it is assumed that this is the correct interpretation of the reference situation by Milà i Canals et al. (2007). Milà i Canals et al. (2007) do not explicitly mention that the reference situation is different for occupation and transformation impacts, but in their separate examples of occupation and transformation, the reference situations are different.

occupation, the sum of emissions found by these studies would be larger than the actual emissions<sup>3</sup>. However, ALCA should lead to additive results of all anthropogenic emissions (Chapter 5.1.1). Thus, natural regeneration is not consistent with ALCA.

There are also other reasons why the concept of natural relaxation or PNV can be challenged. Chiarucci et al. (2010) argue that "it is impossible to model PNV because of (i) the methodological problems associated to its definition and (ii) the issues related to the ecosystems dynamics". The PNV concept is challenged by multiple sciences: it is static, deterministic, relies on uncertain climate predictions and it does not include biological and vegetation dynamics (Chiarucci et al., 2010; Koponen et al., 2018). The authors argue that a change of paradigm is required to move from the unrealistic static concept of PNV to a more useful dynamic concept of vegetation. According to Othoniel et al. (2016), using PNV as a baseline leads to comparing the current situation with a hypothetical situation that may never happen. Thus, the obtained results with a PNV as reference situation represents how far the current state is from a natural state, instead of representing the measurable land use impact of the analysed system.

Several alternative reference situations are proposed in literature. Brander (2015) argues that a natural baseline is most suitable for ALCA. "A natural regeneration baseline represents the amount of sequestration that would occur if anthropogenic land occupation ceased, e.g. through the abandonment of agricultural land", whereas "a natural baseline represents the amount of sequestration that would occur if there had been no anthropogenic activities at all" (Brander, 2016). Othoniel et al. (2016) advocate to further explore the 'most recent available mix of land use', because it would "allow highlighting improvement strategies"; "avoid the consideration of ecosystems' regeneration", which is a source of sensible uncertainties (Brandão & Canals, 2013; De Baan et al., 2013; Saad et al., 2013); and it may be more interesting for decision makers to obtain information "based on a realistic situation than on a theoretical one" (Chaplin-Kramer et al., 2017; Koellner et al., 2013; Souza et al., 2015).

### 5.3.1.3 Current application of reference situations in literature

Soimakallio et al. (2015) have performed a literature review and found four different types of baselines used by ALCA studies: 1) zero baseline; 2) business as usual; 3) natural or quasi-natural steady state; 4) natural regeneration or PNV. The vast majority of studies have not explicitly applied or proposed a baseline (Soimakallio et al., 2015). Soimakallio et al. (2015) found that while many methodological studies have adopted the guideline for natural regeneration by Milà i Canals et al. (2007) in their recommendations, only few studies have actually applied the natural regeneration as a reference (e.g., Milà i Canals et al., 2013). Of all possible reference scenarios mentioned by UNEP-SETAC, so far only the PNV has been used in LCA research (Cao et al., 2017; Souza et al., 2015), while this is not always the most relevant reference situation based on the LCA scope (Chiarucci et al., 2010; Othoniel et al., 2016; Souza et al., 2015; Teixeira, 2014). Thus, there is a discrepancy between methodological recommendations and practical applications of a reference situation.

Even though the conclusions made by Soimakallio et al. (2015) about the suitability of certain reference situations for ALCA do not necessarily match the conclusions made within this thesis, their findings are beneficial because they show that the majority of the studies in their literature review do not use the recommended natural regeneration reference situation and most studies do not even explicitly mention which reference situation they used. These findings are important, because the choice of reference situation highly influences the result of a comparative LCA study. Cao et al. (2017) found that the choice of reference a visual representation of the effect that the choice of a different reference situation has on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Note: the emissions found in the UNEP-SETAC framework would always be larger than the actual emissions, because factually emissions are zero under the assumption that land quality remains constant over time during occupation (Chapter 5.2.1).

quantification of impacts (Figure 5.7). This shows how important it is that there is consensus in choosing a reference situation and that the used reference situation is explicitly mentioned and substantiated.



Figure 5.7. The effect of various reference situations in different bioenergy cases (reproduced from Koponen et al., 2018).

After the literature review by Soimakallio et al. (2015) showed that there was no consensus in application and guidelines for reference situations, new studies (e.g., Cao et al., 2017; Koponen et al., 2018) were published that proposed new types of reference situations and/or decision trees to unify the decision process for choosing a reference situation. It can be debated whether these kinds of decision trees that propose to use many different kinds of reference situations in different types of LCA studies (by means of complicated decision trees) are beneficial in creating consistency among LCA practitioners regarding the chosen reference situation. Koponen et al. (2018) reason that "because large uncertainties surround reference situations, and these counterfactual scenarios have a decisive influence on the calculation of climate effects of a bioenergy system, several alternative reference scenarios may be considered". However, this is a contradictory conclusion: instead, because the choice of reference situation highly influences the results in (comparative) LCA studies (Cao et al., 2017), the community should aim for fewer choices and more consistency. Therefore, we argue for a simplification of the reference situation, instead of expanding on suitable options and decisions.

### 5.3.2 Amortization period and method

An amortization period is needed to attribute the total impact of transformation to an agricultural product that was produced on that land after the transformation happened. Thus, amortization is an accounting solution that is needed to attribute transformation impacts to products that have been cultivated in the years after transformation. However, it is impossible to know for how long in the future the land will be used for cropland cultivation. Therefore, it needs to be determined over which period (until which year of production after transformation) emissions will be attributed, and this is a difficult debate.

An example is presented here to elucidate the difficult debate regarding the amortization period and method. A Brazilian rainforest was transformed to cropland in 1990, to cultivate soybean. Thus, one can argue that the soybean cultivation in 1991 should be attributed some of the emissions due to the transformation in 1990. However, it can be debated how long a product should be held accountable for the emissions that happened in the past. Is soybean cultivation in 2005 still responsible for the transformation in 1990, and what about soybean cultivation in 2024?

Currently, a 20-year amortization period is standardized, this means that soybean cultivation in 1991 and 2005 are attributed emissions of the land transformation in 1990, but soybean cultivation in 2024 is not. A 20-year amortization period is the standard amortization period in both the UNEP-SETAC framework and other international carbon footprinting (CFP) methods for LULUC GHG emissions (Appendix I). The scientific basis for choosing 20 years is that 20 years corresponds to the time it takes for the carbon stock achieve a new balance after an impact (also called the transition period) (IPCC, 2006) (Figure 5.8a). However, in the UNEP-SETAC framework, the transition period is neglected, because they make the simplified assumption that land transformation impacts do not have a time component, but instantly reach their final state after the transformation (Figure 5.8b).





Figure 5.8a. The transition period is highlighted in read, which is currently not included in the UNEP-SETAC framework.

Figure 5.8b. The transition period is neglected in the UNEP-SETAC framework, because it is assumed that the quality reaches its final state instantly, without a time component.

Another way of choosing an amortization period would be to amortize the impacts based on the time that the land transformation had an impact on the environment. According to Koellner et al. (2013), setting the amortization period equal to the regeneration time would be a suitable alternative of the 20-year amortization time. By means of consequential reasoning, one could argue that if the land was left abandoned after the transformation, the environmental impact would be restored after the regeneration time (Figure 5.9). However, this is an 'what-if' scenario because the carbon would only be in the air for the regeneration time if the land was left to regenerate, which is an unlikely alternative scenario.

Additionally, regeneration times are highly uncertain (Chapter 5.2.3) and using the regeneration time as the amortization period would create differences in amortization periods between products from different LUC types. If these differences are based on highly uncertain values, it affects the robustness of the analysis. Therefore, it can be argued that the regeneration time is not a suitable amortization period for an ALCA study.



Figure 5.9. Amortization period equal to the regeneration time (green), instead of an amortization period equal to the transition period (red).

Milà i Canals et al. (2007) and Koellner et al. (2013) did not mention it explicitly, but they apply an equal amortization method, which means that the impacts are equally distributed over the production within the amortization period. Consequently, there is a large difference between the emissions attributed to the cultivated product in year 20 after the transformation (5% of transformation emissions attributed) versus the cultivated product in year 20 after the transformation (0%) (Appendix I).

### 5.4 The Climate Regulation Potential (CRP) by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010)

### 5.4.1 Confusion about the definition of CRP

It seems that there is no clarity in scientific literature about the definition of CRP. Koellner et al. (2013) define the CRP as the capacity of ecosystems to uptake carbon from air (in the topsoil and land cover), where the indicator is the carbon flow (in tonnes.year/m<sup>2</sup>) change due to land use. However, Koellner et al. (2013) also refer to the framework by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) as the carbon sequestration potential (CSP). In contrast, Milà i Canals et al. (2013) define the CRP as forgone sequestration in above and below ground biomass, expressed in 'kg C transferred to air'. Thus, there is a lot of confusion about what the CRP is. In the next paragraphs, only the original content of Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) has been evaluated.

### 5.4.2 Differentiating between fossil and biogenic carbon

The basis of the CRP framework is the differentiation that the authors make between fossil carbon and biogenic carbon. According to Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010), fossil carbon follows the Bern carbon cycle, and has an average residence time of 157 years in the atmosphere. In contrast, they assume that biogenic carbon does not follow the Bern carbon cycle. They reason that a particular biogenic CO<sub>2</sub> molecule that enters the atmosphere due to transformation, stays in the atmosphere for the average

regeneration time, and subsequently that particular biogenic  $CO_2$  molecule is sequestered again in the land. The residence time of a biogenic  $CO_2$  molecule originating from land transformation is equal to the average regeneration time. They argue that one year of occupation is responsible for a biogenic  $CO_2$  molecule to be one year longer in the atmosphere, and therefore they argue that the residence time of a biogenic  $CO_2$  originating from occupation is equal to one year.

The authors argue that due to the difference in residence time of fossil carbon (157 year), biogenic transformation carbon (0.5\*regeneration time) and biogenic occupation carbon (1 year), "1 ton of carbon from any case of land use may cause a different global warming effect than 1 ton of carbon from fossil combustion". They reason that it is hence justified to discount a biogenic carbon emission based on the lower climatic impact of biogenic carbon compared to fossil carbon (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010).

There are multiple reasons why it cannot be argued that biogenic and fossil carbon have a different residence time in the atmosphere. First, natural processes do not make a distinction between fossil CO2 and biogenic  $CO_2$ . Both  $CO_2$  molecules are sequestered completely equally, because they are the exactly the same molecule. Thus, biogenic  $CO_2$  is not sequestered faster by biological processes than fossil  $CO_2$ . Second, it cannot be said that biogenic carbon does not follow the Bern carbon cycle and that biogenic carbon sequestration happens faster than the Bern carbon cycle. The terrestrial carbon cycle is part of the Bern carbon cycle, thus sequestering biogenic carbon happens through the terrestrial carbon cycle of the Bern carbon cycle. The authors also argue that biogenic carbon should never have a duration factor higher than 1, "because carbon from destruction of vegetation with slow regeneration can always leave the atmosphere through the 'dissipative' outflow path towards the oceans and the continents". According to the authors, "carbon from land use can be less damaging, but not worse than carbon from fossil combustion". These statements are not correct, because both biogenic  $CO_2$  and fossil  $CO_2$  are the same molecule, thus one is not worse for the environment than the other and both leave the atmosphere through the biologic processes on the earth that are incorporated in the Bern carbon cycle. Further, the assumption that the residence time for CO<sub>2</sub> originating from transformation is dependent on the regeneration time of the transformation type (e.g., from tropical forest to cropland, or from grassland to cropland) is also faulty. This is not true because biological processes are not dependent on where the CO<sub>2</sub> molecule originates from. Thus, the distinction that Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) make between fossil and biogenic carbon, is currently purely made based on value choices and not based on science.

### 5.4.3 Cut-off at 500 years

Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) propose 500 years, because a cut-off at 100 years would lead to an average residence time in the atmosphere of 47.5 years, which would "be too short, unduly favouring carbon from fossil combustion". "Favouring" is a value judgement, which is not a good foundation for choosing a cut-off. Thus, choosing 500 years is a rather arbitrary value choice (Liptow et al., 2018). Additionally, it is inconsistent with the global warming indicator, where GWP100 uses a 100-year time horizon.

### 5.4.4 Calculating CRP based on the carbon transfer

Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) multiply the duration factor with the carbon transfer. The carbon transfer is the measurable carbon that was transferred from the land to the atmosphere due to the land transformation. There are two main issues with calculating the CRP based on the carbon transfer.

The carbon transfer is inconsistent with the UNEP-SETAC framework (Figure 5.10). In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the impact of transformation is the difference between the quality after transformation and the quality of the reference situation: the quasi-natural land cover (Koellner et al., 2013). In contrast, in the CRP framework, the carbon transfer is the measurable impact which is calculated as the difference between the quality after transformation and the quality before transformation.



Figure 5.10. The difference in quantifying the transformation impact of the CRP framework versus the UNEP-SETAC framework.

Type of land use (biome of tropical forests)	t C per hectare transferred to air by the transformation	Duration factor (df)	Fossil-combustion-equivalent ton C per hectare transferred to air (Ceq)
Transformation forest to cropland	150.75	31/157=0.20	30.2
Occupation as cropland 1 year	150.75	1/157=0.0064	0.96
Transformation forest to pastureland	120	32.5/157=0.21	25.2
Occupation as pastureland 1 year	120	1/157=0.0064	0.77
Transformation forest to artificial land	150.75	56/157=0.36	54.3
Occupation as artificial land 1 year	150.75	1/157=0.0064	0.96

Table 5.1. Example calculation by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) for the biome of tropical forests.

The CRP framework uses the same carbon transfer (due to transformation) to calculate both the CRP for land transformation and occupation. For example, in Table 5.1, the carbon transfer from transformation from tropical forest to cropland equals 150.75 tonnes carbon per hectare and the occupation carbon transfer thus also equals 150.75 tonnes carbon per hectare. However, it is counterintuitive that they multiple the duration factor of '1/157' for 1 year of occupation with the total transformation impact. This means that one year of occupation is responsible for the delay of the regeneration of the complete regeneration impact. However, during that 1 occupation year, only 1 year could have been used to sequester carbon during regeneration. It would make more sense if the carbon transfer of occupation with the carbon transfer of occupation transfer.

### 5.4.5 Converting kg CO<sub>2</sub>.year to kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq via the Bern carbon cycle

Instead of using the CRP framework to convert carbon in the unit 'kg.year' to kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq, it is also possible to directly convert the unit by using the Bern carbon cycle. In Chapter 4.11 was explained that the average residence time of a CO<sub>2</sub> unit pulse is 157 years, at a cut-off of 500 years. This means, that at a cut-off of 500 years, the surface under the graph in the Bern carbon cycle is 157 years (yellow surface in Figure 5.11). This is similar to 1 unit of CO<sub>2</sub> that is in the air for 157 years and disappears afterwards (blue surface in Figure 5.11). It can be assumed that weight and time are substitutable, i.e., 1 kg of CO<sub>2</sub> for 2 years is equal to 2 kg CO<sub>2</sub> for 1 year. Thus, 1 kg CO<sub>2</sub> for 157 years is equal to 157 kg CO<sub>2</sub> for 1 year (red surface in Figure 5.11). Thus, to convert 'kg CO<sub>2</sub>.year' to 'kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq', the carbon amount in

'kg.year' can be divided by 157. In Chapter 7, it is shown that using this method versus the CRP method both lead to the same outcome (if the same transformation impact value is used).



Figure 5.11. Residence time of 1 pulse CO<sub>2</sub> is 157 years for a cut-off at 500 years for the Bern carbon cycle.

# 6. Proposal for an improved conceptual framework

In this chapter, an improved conceptual framework for quantifying LULUC GHG impacts in LCA is proposed.

## 6.1 Improving the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework

It can be concluded from Chapter 5 that there are multiple weaknesses of the framework that need to be resolved. The main weakness of the UNEP-SETAC framework is the mix between ALCA and CLCA. If a framework can be used for both ALCA and CLCA, it should be in line with both modes separately, and not mix the characteristics of the two methods. ALCA should lead to additive results of all anthropogenic emissions, relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline. There should be no double counting or discounting of emissions, which can be achieved by only including measurable emissions relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline. In CLCA, emissions could be double counted due to overlapping system boundaries and because emissions are quantified relative to an alternative system.

There are also areas of improvements that are independent of the CLCA vs ALCA mode discussion. First, the impact of GHG emissions is not dependent on the origin of the CO<sub>2</sub> molecule, because the atmosphere does not make a distinction between CO<sub>2</sub> originating from fossil carbon, temporary biogenic carbon or permanent biogenic carbon. Second, time and quality impacts are different and should not be aggregated. Third, arbitrary value choices (e.g., modelling period, amortization period and method, reference situation) should be limited, standardized, and based on science. Fourth, quantifying impacts in carbon tonnes.year adds unnecessary complexity.

### 6.2 The improved conceptual framework for ALCA

In this subchapter, the improved conceptual framework will be explained for an ALCA study. The framework is improved based on the weaknesses that were found in the UNEP-SETAC framework. The framework is explained step by step in the next paragraphs, by means of a hypothetical land use situation.

### 6.2.1 Step 1: categorization of land use in periods

The first step to quantify LULUC GHG emissions is to divide the use of land in periods (Figure 6.1). Periods are divided based on the function and/or the owner of the land. Every period has a start and end. Both the start and end have a quality (Q) and a time (t), thus each period has a  $\Delta Q$  and a  $\Delta t$ .



Figure 6.1. Dividing the land use in periods.

For each period, the type of land use should be determined: transformation, occupation, or land abandonment. In a transformation period, the main goal of the period is to change the land use type, e.g., deforestation or reforestation. In an occupation period, the main goal of the period is to use the land for the cultivation of a product that is related to the FU of the LCA study. In a land abandonment period, the land is not used for any purpose. Figure 6.2 shows an example of categorizing land use periods.



Figure 6.2. Categorizing the land use periods.

### 6.2.2 Step 2: quantify transformation impacts

In step 2, the transformation impacts should be quantified. First, it should be determined whether the year of cultivation of the agricultural product under study falls within the amortization period.

An amortization period is needed to attribute the total impact of transformation to an agricultural product that was produced on that land after the transformation happened. Thus, amortization is an accounting solution that is needed to attribute transformation impacts to products that have been cultivated in the years after transformation. However, it is impossible to know for how long in the future the land will be used for cropland cultivation. Therefore, it needs to be determined over which period (until which year of production after transformation) emissions will be attributed. In this framework, it has been chosen to base the amortization period on the time that the land transformation had an impact on the environment. In the context of GHG emissions, it can be argued that the impact of land transformation lasts for the average residence time of a  $CO_2$  molecule in the atmosphere. The average residence time of a  $CO_2$ pulse in the atmosphere can be determined based on the Bern carbon cycle (Chapter 4.11). It has been chosen to use a cut-off of 100 years for the Bern carbon cycle, because that is also the cut-off that is used for the GWP100. A cut-off of 100 years, results in an average residence time of 47.5 year (Chapter 5.4.3). For practical implementation, 47.5 year is rounded up above to a 50-year amortization period.



Figure 6.3. Determining if the year of cultivation (at the end of period 3) falls within the amortization period.

The year of cultivation is the end of period 3 (P3) (Figure 6.3). In this example, the year of cultivation falls within the amortization period (Figure 6.3). This means that a part of the transformation impact of period 1 should be attributed to the studied product in period 3. The transformation quality impact is calculated by:  $\Delta Q=Q$ end.period – Qbegin.period. The transformation time impact is calculated by  $\Delta t=$ tend.period – tbegin.period. Thus the transformation impact of period 1 is  $\Delta Q1$  and  $\Delta t1$  (Figure 6.3).

As amortization method, it has been chosen to use linear amortization, because it allows for a smoother transition (compared to equal amortization) of allocated emissions of the last year within the amortization period compared the first year outside of the amortization period.

The quality and time impacts of period 1 are linearly attributed to the studied product in the cultivation year in period 3. Linear amortization starts at the start of the first occupation period after the transformation period and ends at the end of the amortization period. The reader is referred to ESM sheet 6 for the attributed percentages of land transformation for each year within the amortization period of 50 years for a linear amortization method.

In this framework, sequestration activities are calculated as transformation impacts (' $\Delta Q$ =Qend.period – Qbegin.period') and they are equally allocated to the owner of the land during the transformation period. One can debate whether sequestration should be claimed by humans. It can be argued that regeneration is a natural process that should not belong in ALCA. However, Brander (2015) argues that sequestration only exists because anthropogenic LUC has reduced terrestrial carbon stocks below their equilibrium level. Therefore, we argue that sequestration activities should be included in ALCA, relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline, to enable a complete mass balance of carbon.

### 6.2.3 Step 3: quantifying the occupation impact

The year of cultivation falls within an occupation period. Like a land transformation impact, an occupation quality impact is calculated by ' $\Delta Q$ =Qend.period – Qbegin.period' and an occupation time impact is calculated by ' $\Delta t$ =tend.period – tbegin.period'. Thus the total occupation impact of period 3 is  $\Delta Q3$  and  $\Delta t3$  (Figure 6.4). The occupation impacts are equally amortized over the occupation time, thus the occupation time impact is 1 year ( $\Delta t/\Delta t$ ) and the occupation quality impact is  $\Delta Q/\Delta t$ .



Figure 6.4. Determining the occupation impacts of period 3.

### 6.2.4 Optional Step 3b for CLCA: forgone sequestration

In this framework, the option to include forgone sequestration has been added, which is only suitable for application within a CLCA study. The forgone sequestration quantifies the impact of using the land for the FU, relative to abandoning the land and letting it regenerate.

In literature, definitions and calculations of forgone sequestration vary (e.g., Koponen & Soimakallio, 2015; Schmidinger & Stehfest, 2012), but for this framework the definition and calculation of Brander (2016) will be followed. Brander (2016) argues that forgone sequestration is calculated by subtracting the level of sequestration in the reference situation from the amount of sequestration in the studied system. This method is explained in Textbox 6.1.

#### Textbox 6.1

Brander (2016) has explained the concept of foregone sequestration by means of the following example. Before transformation, 1 ha of land sequesters 1 tCO<sub>2</sub>/year indefinitely. Due to transformation, the land loses 100 tCO<sub>2</sub>. The studied system is occupation, thus it does not sequester CO<sub>2</sub>. If land was abandoned, it would sequester 5 tCO<sub>2</sub>/year for 20 years (until it regenerates the lost 100 tCO<sub>2</sub>). After those 20 years, it would sequester 1 tCO<sub>2</sub>/year indefinitely again. Brander (2016) quantifies the forgone sequestration by subtracting the level of sequestration in the reference situation from the amount of sequestration in the studied system:

Forgone sequestration = sequestration in studied system - sequestration in reference situation

If the chosen reference situation is natural relaxation (land abandonment), the studied system is occupation, and the time horizon is 20 years, then the forgone sequestration is:

 $0 tCO_2/yr * 20 yr - 5 tCO_2/yr * 20 yr = -100 tCO_2$ 

and if the chosen reference situation is natural baseline (before transformation), the studied system is occupation, and the time horizon is 20 years, then the forgone sequestration is:

 $0 tCO_2/yr * 20 yr - 1 tCO_2/yr * 20 yr = - 20 tCO_2$ 

where sequestration is represented as a positive number, and so foregone sequestration is represented by a negative number, which means a loss of sequestration.

Thus, in the example, sequestration of the studied system is ' $-\Delta Q3$ ' and the sequestration of the reference situation is ' $\Delta Q3$ .ref'. Thus, the forgone sequestration is ' $-\Delta Q3 - \Delta Q3$ .ref' (Figure 6.5). Like normal occupation impacts, the forgone is equally amortized over the occupation period: 'forgone sequestration period 3 /  $\Delta t3$ '.



Figure 6.5. Determining the forgone sequestration in CLCA for period 3.

### 6.3 Benefits of the improved conceptual framework

The improved conceptual framework offers several benefits compared to the UNEP-SETAC framework:

- Only (and all) measurable impacts are included in the inventory;
- No predictions of future land use are necessary to calculate impacts;
- There is no discussion anymore about the reference situation, because impacts are calculated based on the characteristics at the end of the period relative to the characteristics at the start of the period;
- Transformation impacts are not discounted based on hypothetical future land regeneration;
- Modelling periods have become obsolete, because there is no distinction between permanent and temporary land use impacts;
- For CLCA, it is still possible to quantify the impact of the studied system compared to an alternative situation to indicate the indirect effects of occupation.

### 7. LULUC case study

In this chapter, the improved conceptual framework will be demonstrated in a comparative case study about palm oil production in Indonesia and sunflower oil production in France. The results of the improved conceptual framework will be compared with the UNEP-SETAC framework and other carbon footprinting (CFP) standards.

### 7.1.1 Scenarios and data collection

The goal of the hypothetical case study is to illustrate how the improved conceptual framework (proposed in Chapter 6) performs in a comparative case study, compared to the UNEP-SETAC framework and CFP standards.

In the case study, the LULUC GHG emissions of sunflower seed cultivation in France were compared with the LULUC GHG emissions of palm oil fruit cultivation in Indonesia. Palm oil is the most consumed oil worldwide and Indonesia is its largest producer (Absalome et al., 2020). However, palm oil is subject of controversy because it is associated with declining biodiversity and deforestation (Absalome et al., 2020). Sunflower oil is regarded as a healthy and more sustainable alternative of palm oil (Anushree et al., 2017). France is one of the leading countries for the production and development of sunflower oil as an alternative for palm oil (Anushree et al., 2017).

In terms of LULUC characteristics, both cases are very different. Forests in Europe were mostly deforested before the industrial revolution (Kaplan et al., 2009), while deforestation for palm oil production in Indonesia peaked in 2009 (Austin et al., 2019). While sunflower oil might be perceived more sustainable because it does not add to recent deforestation, palm oil has a much higher yield per hectare (FAOSTAT, 2020) and because it is a perennial crop, the vegetation adds an additional 60 tonnes C/ha to the land. Additionally, the carbon content of the potential natural vegetation in France is believed to be much lower than in Indonesia (Searchinger et al., 2018). The different characteristics of the two crops and the fact that they are used as alternatives, make it an interesting case study to test the outcomes of different frameworks.

The functional unit for which the two alternatives were compared is '1 kg of crude oil cultivated in 2020'. It is assumed that 1 kg of palm oil can be substituted by 1 kg of sunflower oil in food products. Details of the data collection can be found in the ESM sheet 2. Data for the carbon in vegetation and in soil have been collected from the FAO Global Forest Resource Assessment (FRA) 2020 and from the IPCC. Data for the cultivation of the crops have been collected from FAOSTAT.

This case study aims to illustrate the main findings of this thesis. This case study is not conducted to obtain an accurate measure of LUC GHG, but rather demonstrating how different frameworks work, so simplifications have been made. It has been chosen to not include the impact of management activities on LULUC emissions, as management activities are not within the scope of this thesis.

### 7.1.2 Modelling

The two alternatives are compared with each other by means of 5 different frameworks for calculating LULUC GHG emissions.

The first framework is the UNEP-SETAC framework (Koellner et al., 2013) combined with the Bern carbon cycle. The results of the UNEP-SETAC framework in carbon tonnes.year are converted to tonnes CO<sub>2</sub>-eq by means of the Bern carbon cycle (Chapter 5.4.5). The second framework is the CRP method by Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010), which is based on the UNEP-SETAC framework (Chapter 4.11). The third framework is the improved conceptual framework proposed in this thesis.

The fourth and the fifth framework are two CFP standards: the PAS 2050 and the Forest Land use and Agriculture Guidance (FLAG). CFP is defined as calculating the "sum of greenhouse gas emissions and removals in a product system expressed as  $CO_2$ -eq (ISO TS 14067). CFP is based on LCA, but only

calculates impacts for the climate change impact category (Finkbeiner, 2014). It has been chosen to compare the UNEP-SETAC framework, the CRP framework and the improved conceptual method with these CFP standards, because these CFP methods seem to be much more frequently used by LCA practitioners and companies than the UNEP-SETAC framework. The PAS 2050 is widely used in Europe and the FLAG is required for companies that follow the Science Based Target initiative (SBTi). More information regarding these CFP standards and a textual comparison of the frameworks can be found in Appendix I.

Table 7.1 provides an overview of the methodological choices in each of the abovementioned frameworks. The formulas that are followed for each framework to calculate the LULUC GHG emissions per alternative can be found in the ESM sheet 4.

Methodological choices	UNEP-SETAC	CRP	Improved conceptual framework	PAS 2050	FLAG
LUC Amortization method	Equal	Equal	Linear	Equal	Linear
LUC amortization period	20 years	20 years	50 years	20 years	20 years
Assuming future land regeneration	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Transformation impacts calculated relative to	PNV	Previous land quality (measurable carbon transfer)	Previous land quality (measurable carbon transfer)	Previous land quality (measurable carbon transfer)	Previous land quality (measurable carbon transfer)
Measurable occupation impacts	No	No	Yes, calculated relative to previous quality	No	No
Forgone sequestration due to occupation	Yes, calculated relative to PNV	Yes, calculated relative to previous land quality (measurable carbon transfer)	Yes, calculated relative to PNV	No	No

Table 7.1. Overview of methodological choices in the five frameworks used for theillustrative case study.

### 7.1.3 Results



Figure 7.1a. The carbon content on a parcel of land for sunflower cultivation in France.



The solid line represents the factual carbon content over time. The dashed line represents the hypothetical future assumed by Koellner et al (2013), while the dotted line represents the assumed future by the improved conceptual framework.

Figure 7.1a and 7.1b show the carbon content of the land (in tonnes C/ha) over time for each scenario. For sunflower cultivation in France, the carbon content of the land was 163 tonnes C/ha, which decreased due to deforestation in 1700 to 44 tonnes C/ha. For palm oil fruit cultivation in Indonesia, the carbon content of the land was 160 tonnes C/ha, which decreased to 113 tonnes C/ha due to deforestation in 2009.

Figure 7.2 shows the LULUC GHG emissions for both alternatives calculated for the 5 LULUC frameworks. When using the UNEP-SETAC framework, 1 kg of sunflower oil causes 3.46 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from occupation) and 1 kg of palm oil causes 0.472 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (0.153 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq from transformation and 0.319 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq from occupation). When using the CRP framework, 1 kg of sunflower oil causes 6.20 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from occupation) and 1 kg of palm oil causes 0.472 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (0.153 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from occupation) and 1 kg of palm oil causes 0.472 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (0.153 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from occupation) and 1 kg of palm oil causes 0.472 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (0.153 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from transformation and 0.319 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions and has a forgone sequestration -14.7 kg CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 1 kg of palm oil causes 1.57 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from transformation) and has a forgone sequestration of -2.61 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions. When using the PAS 2050, 1 kg of sunflower oil causes 0 kg of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 1 kg of palm oil causes 2.50 kg CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (from transformation). When using the FLAG, 1 kg of sunflower oil causes 0 kg of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 1 kg of palm oil causes 0 kg of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 1 kg of palm oil causes 0 kg of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (from transformation).



Figure 7.2. The impact of LULUC activities for 1 kg of sunflower oil (SF) or palm oil (PO), expressed in kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq, calculated by 5 different methods.

### 7.1.4 Discussion

Both the UNEP-SETAC framework and the CRP framework have resulted in the same transformation impacts for sunflower oil (0 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq, because LUC happened more than 20 years ago) and palm oil (0.153 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq). However, the frameworks calculate LUC transformation impact differently because the UNEP-SETAC framework the PNV as reference situation (difference between the PNV and the quality after LUC), while the CRP framework takes the quality before LUC as a reference situation (the difference between the quality before LUC and the quality after LUC) (Chapter 5.4). However, for palm oil the quality before LUC and the PNV quality are assumed to be the same and hence the methods lead to the same results for palm oil. For occupation impact, the frameworks lead to difference in reference situation: the UNEP-SETAC framework uses the PNV as reference and the CRP framework the quality before LUC. For palm oil, both references are assumed to be the same, but for sunflower oil they are different. This is because it is believed that the ecosystems in Europe will never be able to return to their original state from centuries ago.

Both PAS 2050 and FLAG only quantify the measurable carbon transfer (from the quality before LUC to the quality after LUC), and do not quantity occupation impacts. Both only account for transformation impacts if the land use change happened within an amortization window of 20 years. The difference between them is that PAS 2050 requires equal amortization while FLAG requires linear amortization. However, in this situation the land use change for 1 kg of palm oil happened 11 years ago (2009, with

reference to the yield in 2020), thus the difference in emission allocation is only small (0.05% for PAS 2050 and 0.0475% for FLAG). Differences in results would have been bigger if the LUC happened recently (more emission allocation with linear amortization) or later (more emission allocation with equal amortization).

In the basis, the improved conceptual framework is similar to the PAS 2050 and the FLAG, because they only inventory measurable impacts for ALCA studies. However, for the improved conceptual framework, a linear amortization period of 50 years. In this case, this leads to lower attributable emissions, because for palm oil the transformation happened only 11 years ago. The biggest difference between the CFP methods and the improved conceptual framework, is that the improved conceptual framework adds the possibility for CLCA to add forgone sequestration to the impact categories.

It is visible that the emissions for sunflower oil are much higher than palm oil in the UNEP-SETAC and the CRP framework. On the contrary, the improved conceptual framework, the PAS 2050 and the FLAG framework led to higher emissions for palm oil. This is mainly caused by the inclusion of occupation impacts in the UNEP-SETAC and the CRP framework. The occupation impacts of sunflower oil are higher than palm oil because the yield (kg/ha) is much lower for sunflower seeds and the difference between the carbon content of occupation compared to the reference situation is larger for sunflower oil. The improved conceptual framework, the PAS 2050 and the FLAG framework do not account for occupation impacts as factual emissions. Additionally, the UNEP-SETAC framework and the CRP framework discount the measurable transformation emissions based on hypothetical regeneration, thus the transformation impacts are quite small compared to the other frameworks.

The improved conceptual framework indicates that 1 kg of sunflower oil has the largest forgone sequestration. First, palm oil fruit (perennial crop) cultivation adds 60 tonnes C/ha to the land, while sunflower oil does not. The forgone sequestration is -47 tonnes C/ha for palm oil fruit while the forgone sequestration for sunflower seeds is -68 tonnes C/ha. Second, there is more land needed for 1 kg of sunflower oil. As a result, 1 kg of sunflower oil has a 566% larger forgone sequestration than 1 kg of palm oil.

### 7.1.5 Conclusion

The results of the case study illustrate the earlier findings in this thesis. The UNEP-SETAC and the CRP framework discount the transformation impacts based on hypothetical future regeneration, which results in a much lower transformation impact than other frameworks. The UNEP-SETAC and the CRP framework assign a large CO<sub>2</sub>-eq impact to occupation impacts, even though they are not measurable, based on hypothesis that the land would have regenerated without the occupation. As a result, the UNEP-SETAC and the CRP framework lower impacts to the factual transformation impacts (thus LUC) and higher impacts to the hypothetical occupation impacts. Thus, when using the UNEP-SETAC and CRP framework, it can be concluded that the use of land for 1 kg of palm oil is more sustainable in terms of GHG emissions.

The CFP methods (PAS 2050 and FLAG framework) only assign transformation impacts to 1 kg of palm oil. Thus, when using the CFP methods, it can be concluded that the use of land for 1 kg of sunflower oil is more sustainable in terms of GHG emissions.

When using the improved conceptual framework, it can be concluded that the measurable impact of using 1 kg palm oil is higher than using 1 kg of sunflower oil. However, the forgone sequestration showed that if there is more production than demand, it is better to use palm oil and to regenerate the land that is used for sunflower seed cultivation.

The conclusions regarding the sustainability of the alternatives in each framework differ greatly. The results of this comparative case study illustrate that the choice of LULUC framework can invert the conclusions of LULUC GHG emissions between two alternatives. This shows that it is highly important that the academic community reaches consensus in using one type of framework and also determines which framework is suitable for LCA and creates most valid and reliable results.

### 8. Discussion & Recommendations

In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the LCA practitioner is provided with various methodological choices that should be taken based on the chosen LCA mode: ALCA or CLCA. However, this analysis showed that the UNEP-SETAC framework is largely based on consequential thinking, because emissions are calculated relative to alternative scenarios. A sum of all land transformation and occupation impacts, calculated by means of the UNEP-SETAC framework, does not equal to a sum of all measurable anthropogenic land transformation and occupation impacts in the world. Therefore, this analysis concluded that the UNEP-SETAC framework is not suitable in its current form for an ALCA study.

To advance method development, weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework were resolved in an improved conceptual framework for LULUC impacts. The results of the comparative LCA case study, in which both the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved framework were used, illustrated that the choice of LULUC framework can invert the conclusions of LULUC GHG emissions between two alternatives. The results of this study therefore indicate that the use of the UNEP-SETAC framework in a comparative ALCA study could lead to inverted results.

These results are the key findings of this study. However, there are several points that need to be discussed. In the following paragraphs, the implications, limitations and recommendations of the research will be elaborated.

### 8.1 Implications of the research

### 8.1.1 Implications for science

The goal of this master thesis was to advance the method development of LULUC frameworks that quantify LULUC GHG emissions of agricultural products in LCA studies. It was found that the most well-known framework in the scientific community for LULUC GHG emissions in LCA, the UNEP-SETAC framework, is not widely used in practice. One of the research objectives was to identify and evaluate the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework that might prevent it from being widely accepted and used in LCA studies. Existing literature had discussed several limitations of the UNEP-SETAC framework in relation to ecosystem services (Othoniel et al., 2016), however this is the first study that has evaluated the UNEP-SETAC framework in the context of GHG emissions. Brander (2015, 2016) had made some interesting observations about the confusion between CLCA and ALCA in choosing a land use baseline, however the criticism was not directed towards the UNEP-SETAC framework. This is the first study to recognize that the UNEP-SETAC framework is not suitable for an ALCA study in its current form. Based on these findings, it is highly recommended that the scientific community of LULUC in LCA looks beyond the UNEP-SETAC framework and further researches the possibilities for a new framework.

Another research objective was to propose an improved generalized LULUC GHG framework in LCA. The improved conceptual framework is novel, because it is the first LULUC GHG framework in LCA that can be used for both ALCA and CLCA. The improved framework is in line with both modes separately and does not mix the characteristics of the two methods. The basis of the framework is aligned with ALCA, and optionally, the forgone sequestration can be calculated for a CLCA study. Using this improved framework for ALCA studies leads to additive results of all measurable anthropogenic emissions, relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline. And for CLCA, forgone sequestration can be quantified relative to the alternative system of land abandonment (if the agricultural product was not cultivated). In LULUC LCA literature, methodological choices for LCA practitioners within LULUC frameworks are abundant. The work within this thesis resists this trend, by arguing that more methodological choices have been made obsolete, such as the modelling period. Other arbitrary value choices (e.g., amortization period and method, and reference situation) have been standardized and based on science (where possible). It is hoped that this simplified LULUC GHG framework for LCA forms the starting point for further development of new frameworks that are aligned with the chosen LCA mode.

Despite the criticism regarding the UNEP-SETAC framework, it is acknowledged that great effort has been made by the UNEP-SETAC group to put LUC in LCA on the agenda. Since the call for papers by Milà I Canals (2007) regarding land use in LCA, a lot has changed. With the number of papers that have been published, and the ongoing activity of the co-authors to publish papers regarding this topic, the group has succeeded in putting this societally important topic on the research agenda.

### 8.1.2 Societal relevance

Several standards and methodologies for land use change carbon accounting have been developed over the past decade(s) by public bodies, private entities, and the scientific community. The European Commission (EC) is currently working on a protocol for (LCA-based) carbon modelling within the EC's Environmental Footprint Method, as a standardized methodology for carbon accounting in Europe. The Joint Research Centre (JRC) has published a draft Technical Report regarding this topic. The JRC is the EC's science and knowledge service and aims to provide evidence-based scientific support to the European policymaking process. In this draft, the JRC considered modelling land occupation impacts based on the UNEP-SETAC framework. The JRC considered to calculate the land occupation as the carbon sequestration that would have happened if that land was left to regenerate during that year. As advocated in this thesis, we consider that not in line with ALCA because it does not quantify the measurable emissions of land occupation. By means of the work that was conducted for this thesis, it was argued in a meeting with the JRC that occupation impacts should not be quantified by means of the UNEP-SETAC framework for an ALCA study. If the framework is used in an ALCA study, there will be high potential for misinterpretation of results as it combines the two modes of LCA within a single study. For mitigation strategies to be successful, it is highly essential that governmental and international bodies are aware of that.

### 8.1.3 Industrial Ecology relevance

This study was conducted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Industrial Ecology at Leiden University and Delft University of Technology. Industrial ecology is "the study of systemic relationships between society, the economy, and the natural environment" (International Society for Industrial Ecology, n.d.). Methods used within the field of industrial ecology include material flow analysis, environmental input-output analysis and LCA. The aim of industrial ecology is to address sustainability challenges, by taking an interdisciplinary approach in identifying, designing, and critically evaluating sustainability solutions.

This thesis is relevant to the LCA community within industrial ecology, because it focused on method development and identified issues within the UNEP-SETAC LUC framework for LCA. In this thesis, both the causes and the consequences of using the UNEP-SETAC framework were evaluated, and a new method for quantifying LUC in LCA was proposed. In this thesis, an improved conceptual framework was designed to inspire other researchers within the industrial ecology community to collaborate in further developing a new LUC framework for LCA. The results of this thesis can be used to improve scientific research that guides society in making strategic decisions to redesign and minimize the impact of the global food system.

### 8.2 Limitations and recommendations

### 8.2.1 Terminology

In this research, it was decided to mainly follow the terminology of Milà i Canals et al. (2007) and Koellner et al. (2013). The UNEP-SETAC framework is already rather difficult for the reader to understand. Using different concepts than what the authors have originally used might have caused additional confusion. However, the terminology in the UNEP-SETAC framework does not necessarily align with the terminology that is used in different research fields. Use of different terms to describe the same concept in different research fields creates a divergence within different research fields, while it is important that these research groups collaborate.

During this research, issues with terminology in the field of LUC in LCA were encountered. First, many different terms are used for the same concept within the field of LUC in LCA. For example, the reference situation is also called reference system, reference scenario, or baseline (Koponen et al., 2018). The modelling period is also called temporal scope (Koponen et al., 2018), time frame (Milà i Canals et al., 2007), modelling time (Koellner et al., 2013), or time horizon (Koellner et al., 2013). Amortization is also called allocation, and the amortization period is also called amortization window (e.g. in PAS 2050), temporal scope (e.g., Koponen et al. (2018) or allocation period (Koellner et al., 2013). Second, terms are used interchangeably, because it is believed that they describe (roughly) the same concept, but they actually describe different concepts. For example, according to Soimakallio et al. (2016), 'land occupation' in LCA literature means 'land use'. However, land use is "the total of arrangements, activities and inputs applied to a parcel of land" (IPCC, 2019). That is different than land occupation, which is "the use of a land area for a certain human-controlled purpose (e.g., agriculture) assuming no intended transformation of the land properties during this use" (Milà i Canals et al., 2007). In UNEP-SETAC, land occupation is treated as land use in the narrow sense (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010), excluding flows from activities, in- and outputs or products. Land use is included as an environmental flow, but not as an economic process. Third, terms were used inconsistently with other research fields. For example, to describe the residence time or atmospheric lifetime (Archer et al., 2009), Müller-Wenk & Brandão (2010) invented the term 'stay in the air'. Where literature outside the LCA community uses LUC, the LCA community uses land transformation (Koellner et al., 2013). Fourth, some terminology has also changed over time. For example, Milà i Canals et al. (2007) uses the term relaxation, while six years later Koellner et al. (2013) uses regeneration.

It is recommended for researchers of LUC in LCA to reach consensus on the use of terminology. The use of different terms (with sometimes slightly different meanings) creates confusion both within and across different fields of research. Without consistency of terms, it is unclear which impacts are quantified in a study, because different terms include different impacts. An attempt has been made to be consistent with the use of terminology within this thesis. Efforts have been made to include a glossary that explains the different terms used within this thesis and to mention possible synonyms that are used in literature.

### 8.2.2 Modes of LCA

In this thesis, two modes of LCA have been discussed: ALCA and CLCA. However, multiple other modes of LCA exist. Guinée et al. (2018) found a non-exclusive list of 6 additional modes, next to ALCA and CLCA. Guinée et al. (2018) found that "ALCA is the only mode focusing on modeling a situation as it is, either in the past, present, or future, but without any changes", while the other modes "all aim at estimating the effects of changed situations, where the change and/or the background state are based on a scenario" and "aim to assess the environmental life-cycle performance of a future system on the short, mid, or long term". Thus, it can be concluded that CLCA is "just one mode out of at least six other modes to model life-cycle impacts of possible consequences of changes to existing product systems, or of introducing novel technology or product systems" (Guinée et al., 2018).

Within this research, these other LCA modes have not been researched. It is unknown what the suitability is of the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework for other modes of LCA besides ALCA and CLCA, or what kind of changes should be made to make it suitable for other futureoriented modes of LCA. We agree with Guinée et al. (2018) and Suh & Yang (2014) that "dividing the LCA world into CLCAs and ALCAs overlooks the studies not fitting this divide and hampers a constructive dialog about the creative use of modelling frameworks". Therefore, it is recommended that further research takes into account the multiple modes of LCA that exist when further developing LULUC frameworks (including the improved conceptual framework).

### 8.2.3 Regeneration time

Both the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework use the regeneration time to calculate impacts. In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the regeneration time is used to calculate both the land transformation and occupation impact. In the improved conceptual framework, the regeneration time is used to quantify the forgone sequestration for a CLCA study.

It is important to note that regeneration time data is hardly available. The little data that is available often lacks a scientific foundation and is outdated or hypothetical (e.g., Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010), and therefore regeneration time data is highly uncertain (Koellner et al., 2013). This research gap was already identified in 2010 (Müller-Wenk & Brandão, 2010), but since then not much has been improved. The regeneration time values in both the UNEP-SETAC framework and in the improved conceptual framework are a source of uncertainty. In the improved conceptual framework, the forgone sequestration can be calculated if the annual sequestration after land abandonment is known. The annual sequestration time by the amount of sequestered carbon during the regeneration time. However, for both methods, data is hard to find. Thus, if it is desired (for future oriented LCA modes) that LULUC frameworks provide information based on a regeneration baseline, it is essential that the data quality of regeneration times is improved in further research.

### 8.2.4 Rewarding passive and active sequestration

In the improved conceptual framework, it is argued that both passive (natural regeneration) and active (e.g., reforestation) sequestration activities should be accounted for in ALCA. We argue (in line with Brander, 2015) that sequestration only exists because anthropogenic LUC has reduced terrestrial carbon stocks below their equilibrium level. Therefore, sequestration activities should be included in ALCA, relative to a pre-anthropogenic baseline, to enable a complete mass balance of carbon. However, including passive sequestration in LCA as an anthropogenic impact, also leads to double counting of sequestration: once as sequestration in the inventory, and once included in the Bern carbon cycle in the climate impact category. If we want to include sequestration in LCA as an anthropogenic impact, the Bern carbon cycle should be corrected for that. If we account for passive sequestration as 'human-induced', the slope of the Bern carbon cycle should be made flatter, resulting in longer average lifetime of  $CO_2$  in atmosphere, which would increase the impact of  $CO_2$  on climate change.

Including passive sequestration activities in ALCA is a topic of debate. Helin et al. (2013) advocate that it is essential that the environmental impacts attributed to the studied system would not have occurred without the existence of the activity. According to the ILCD Handbook (European Commission Joint Research Centre, 2010), "only the net interventions related to human land management activities shall be inventoried. Interventions that would occur also if the site was unused shall not be inventoried". Following this line of reasoning, only credits should be given to active restoration activities. But it cannot be known for sure whether regeneration would also have happened without the activity. If the owner of the land did not actively decide to protect it and to leave it abandoned, it might have been bought by another entity and used for cropland. Thus, the choice to include passive sequestration in the improved conceptual framework can be a point of debate, which could be investigated in further research.

### 8.2.5 Forgone sequestration

In the improved conceptual framework, it was chosen to use the method of Brander (2016) for the quantification of the forgone sequestration. However, there are also alternative method available, for example the carbon opportunity cost by Searchinger et al. (2018) or the missed potential carbon sink by Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012). Due to limited resources, the carbon opportunity cost method has not been further researched. The missed potential carbon sink by Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012) was further researched but had several limitations.

According to Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012), "if less production occurs, agricultural land will be abandoned, leading to a carbon sink when vegetation is regrowing. This carbon sink, which does not

occur if the product would still be consumed, can be attributed to the product as missed potential carbon sink". They argue that "the total GHG effect of a product is calculated as the sum of the emissions along the product chain according to conventional LCA (not including direct emissions from land-use change) plus the missed potential carbon uptake due to land-use occupation". The formula that Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012) use to quantify the missed potential carbon sink is shown in Eq. 8.1:

(Eq. 8.1) *Missed potential carbon sink* 
$$= \frac{occupation time}{time horizon} \times A \times carbon sink$$

where the occupation time (in yr) is the time for which the missed potential carbon sink is calculated (for 1 year of occupation it is 1), the time horizon (in yr) is the time over which the potential  $CO_2$  uptake is annualized, A (in ha) is the area that is needed per kg of product, and carbon sink (in tonnes  $CO_2/ha$ ) is the sink that would occur if the land is able to regenerate over the time horizon. Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012) calculate the results for two time horizons: 30 years (supposedly in line with biofuel studies) and 100 years (in line with Milà i Canals et al., 2007).

Quantifying a missed potential carbon sink by means of this equation has two main implications. First, the missed potential carbon sink is highly dependent on the chosen time horizon. This can be explained by the following example, where the regeneration time is 60 years and the total carbon sink is 50 tonnes carbon per hectare (Textbox 8.1). Choosing a time horizon of 30 years, leads to a potential sink of only 25 tonnes carbon per hectare, which results in a missed potential carbon sink of 0.83 tonnes carbon per hectare for 1 year of occupation. Choosing a time horizon of 60 years, leads to a potential sink of 50 tonnes carbon per hectare, which results in a missed potential carbon sink of 0.83 tonnes carbon per hectare for 1 year of occupation. Choosing a time horizon of 100 years, leads to a potential sink of 60 tonnes per hectare, which results in a missed potential carbon sink of 0.83 tonnes carbon per hectare for 1 year of occupation. Choosing a time horizon of 100 years, leads to a potential sink of 60 tonnes per hectare, which results in a missed potential carbon sink of 0.83 tonnes carbon per hectare for 1 year of occupation. Choosing a time horizon of 100 years, leads to a potential sink of 60 tonnes per hectare, which results in a missed potential carbon sink of 0.5 tonnes carbon per hectare for 1 year of occupation. Thus, the potential carbon sink becomes lower once the time horizon is longer than the regeneration time, because the sink is already saturated (Koponen & Soimakallio, 2015). Second, the choice of time horizon is a value choice. This shows that the value choice of a time horizon in the equation of Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012) highly influences the quantified potential carbon sink, which is undesirable.

#### Textbox 8.1

In this example, the regeneration time is 60 years and the total carbon sink is 50 tonnes carbon per hectare, and the area is 1 ha.

In case of a 30 year time horizon, only 25 tonnes of carbon can be regenerated. Thus, the calculation is as follows:

Missed carbon sink 
$$=$$
  $\frac{1}{30} \times 1 \times 25 = 0.83$  tonnes carbon

In case of a 60 year time horizon, 50 tonnes of carbon can be regenerated. Thus, the calculation is as follows:

Missed carbon sink = 
$$\frac{1}{60} \times 1 \times 50 = 0.83$$
 tonnes carbon

In case of a 100 year time horizon, 50 tonnes of carbon can be regenerated (because after 60 years, the carbon content is in a steady state). Thus, the calculation is as follows:

*Missed carbon sink* 
$$=$$
  $\frac{1}{100} \times 1 \times 50 = 0.5$  *tonnes carbon*
To conclude, multiple ways exist to quantify forgone sequestration. However, some methods have several limitations, such as the 'missed potential carbon sink' by that Schmidinger & Stehfest (2012). It is recommended that further research investigates alternative forgone sequestration methods, to ensure that the best available option is included in a LULUC framework.

#### 8.2.6 Bern carbon cycle

The Bern carbon cycle is based on the dissipation of  $CO_2$  molecules in the carbon pools, which includes the passive sequestration of carbon on land. In the improved conceptual framework, an amortization period of 50 years is proposed, in line with the average residence time of a  $CO_2$  molecule in the atmosphere according to the Bern carbon cycle (cut-off 100 year). However, the more land transformations, the longer the  $CO_2$  resides in the atmosphere, because the capability of the terrestrial carbon cycle to sequester  $CO_2$  will decrease. However, this change in capacity of the terrestrial pools to sequester  $CO_2$  due to LULUC activities, is not included in the Bern carbon cycle. Thus, the amortization period is not corrected for the marginal residence time of a  $CO_2$  molecule in the atmosphere due to that specific LULUC activity. The LULUC LCA community should be mindful of this limitation of the proposed framework.

#### 8.2.7 Improved conceptual framework

The improved conceptual framework is only one idea how the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework could be improved. It is important that the current weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework are recognized and resolved, but the proposed conceptual framework is not necessarily the optimum framework that is achievable. Most resources within this study have been directed at understanding the UNEP-SETAC framework and identifying the weaknesses of the framework. Only limited resources were left to develop an improved conceptual framework. It is not argued that the improved conceptual framework is the best framework to quantify LULUC GHG emissions in LCA, but instead it is argued that the improved conceptual framework is an improved framework compared to the existing UNEP-SETAC framework and is more consistent with the ALCA and CLCA modes. Therefore, we encourage the development of new LULUC frameworks to stimulate the method development in the scientific community, as long as a newly developed frameworks improve on the identified weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework and are consistent with the aim of the LCA study.

#### 8.2.8 Development of characterisation factors

To increase the use of LULUC frameworks in LCA studies and to increase standardization, one of the enablers is to create ready-to-use CFs. For the improved conceptual framework, CFs have not been yet developed. Currently, an LCA practitioner could only use the improved conceptual framework in an LCA study by calculating the LULUC emissions by hand. In an LCA study, the LCA practitioner would have to add these emissions to the corresponding process as emissions to air. Without CFs, the framework is not going to be implemented by the average LCA practitioner, because it is very time consuming to collect LULUC data and calculate emissions by hand. Thus it is highly essential that CFs are developed for the improved conceptual framework. With CFs, the LCA practitioner could (for example) select the environmental intervention 'LUC, from rainforest to annual cropland, in Brazil, in 18 years ago', and insert the desired amount for the unit 'ha'. The impact assessment model would contain the CF for the environmental intervention, thus the LCA practitioner does not have to quantify the LULUC emissions that belong to 'LUC, from rainforest to annual cropland, in Brazil, in 18 years ago'. As a result of the CF, the GHG impact of 1 ha of 'LUC, from rainforest to annual cropland, in Brazil, in 18 years ago' would automatically appear in the impact category 'climate change (GWP100)'. This would limit the efforts needed by LCA practitioners to collect data and to conduct calculations for the various LULUC types that can exist within their LCA studies. Therefore, the impact of this thesis would be enlarged if further research develops CFs based on the improved conceptual framework.

# 9. Conclusion

This study attempts to answer the following main research question: 'How can the UNEP-SETAC framework be improved to better quantify LULUC impacts of agricultural products in LCA?' This main research question can be answered by means of the sub research questions.

• How are LULUC impacts quantified in the UNEP-SETAC framework?

The UNEP-SETAC framework distinguishes two types of impacts: land transformation and land occupation. Essential in the framework is the concept of regeneration; it is assumed that nature will restore land quality to a new steady state if occupation is absent (fallow land). Land transformation and occupation impacts are quantified by calculating the difference in quality over time between the studied system and the reference situation. The reference situation is the quality of land without human activity, which is dependent on studied system and the mode of LCA. The difference in quality is calculated until the studied system has reached a new steady state after regeneration. In the context of GHG emissions, the metric 'land quality' is expressed as carbon in the unit 'tonnes.year', which resembles the carbon content of the land that has been lost due to the studied system.

• What are the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework?

In the UNEP-SETAC framework, the LCA practitioner is provided with various methodological choices that should be taken based on the chosen LCA mode: ALCA or CLCA. However, the analysis showed that the UNEP-SETAC framework is largely based on consequential thinking, because emissions are calculated relative to alternative scenarios and based on future assumptions. Due to the design of the framework, a sum of all land transformation and occupation impacts calculated by means of the UNEP-SETAC framework does not equal to a sum of all measurable anthropogenic land transformation and occupation impacts in the world. Therefore, the analysis concluded that the UNEP-SETAC framework is not suitable in its current form for an ALCA study. Moreover, calculations are influenced by arbitrary value choices and a distinction is made between CO<sub>2</sub> originating from fossil carbon, temporary biogenic carbon or permanent biogenic carbon, while there is no scientific basis for this claim.

• How can the weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework be resolved to achieve an improved conceptual framework?

In this thesis, an improved conceptual framework is proposed that improves several weaknesses of the UNEP-SETAC framework. The improved framework is in line with both ALCA and CLCA separately and does not mix the characteristics of the two methods. The basis of the framework is aligned with ALCA, and optionally, the forgone sequestration can be calculated for a CLCA study. Using this framework for ALCA studies leads to additive results of all measurable anthropogenic emissions, relative to a preanthropogenic baseline. For CLCA, the forgone sequestration can be quantified to indicate the impact of using the land for the FU, relative to abandoning the land and letting it regenerate. In the proposed framework, certain value choices have been made obsolete, such as the modelling period. Other arbitrary value choices (e.g., amortization period and method, and reference situation) have been standardized and (where possible) made based on science.

• How do the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework compare in a comparative LCA case study of an agricultural product?

The comparative LCA case study comparing the LULUC GHG emissions of sunflower oil cultivated in France and palm oil cultivated in Indonesia showed different results using the UNEP-SETAC framework and the improved conceptual framework. It was assumed that the land in France was transformed centuries ago and the land in Indonesia was transformed in 2009. The functional unit for which the two alternatives were compared was '1 kg of crude oil cultivated in 2020'. When applying the UNEP-SETAC framework, 1 kg of sunflower oil caused 3.46 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from occupation) and 1 kg of palm oil caused 0.472 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (0.153 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq from transformation and 0.319 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq from occupation). When using the improved conceptual framework, 1 kg of sunflower oil caused 0 kg

CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions and had a forgone sequestration -14.7 kg CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 1 kg of palm oil caused 1.57 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions (from transformation) and had a forgone sequestration of -2.61 kg CO<sub>2</sub>-eq emissions. Thus, when using the UNEP-SETAC framework, it could be concluded that that the use of land for 1 kg of sunflower oil caused more GHG emissions, while when using the improved conceptual framework, it could be concluded the use of land for 1 kg of palm oil caused more GHG emissions. In the improved framework, forgone sequestration (in CLCA) showed that if there is more oil production than demand, it is better to use palm oil and to regenerate the land that is used for sunflower seed cultivation. The results of the case study illustrated that the choice of LULUC framework can invert the conclusions of LULUC GHG emissions between two alternatives. This showed that it is highly important that the academic community reaches consensus on using one type of framework.

To ensure the effectiveness of mitigation strategies for LULUC GHG emissions, it is crucial for governmental and international entities to recognize that the combination of LCA modes within the UNEP-SETAC framework can potentially lead to conclusions being inverted or results being misinterpreted. Therefore, it is highly recommended for the LULUC community within LCA to explore alternatives beyond the UNEP-SETAC framework and to delve into researching new possibilities. Within this study, an improved conceptual framework has been proposed as an advancement over the existing UNEP-SETAC approach. This proposal is favoured because it aligns with ALCA and CLCA methodologies and minimizes arbitrary value choices. Further research is advised to assess the applicability of this proposed framework for other future oriented LCA modes. Furthermore, it is essential that further research focusses on developing CFs for the improved conceptual framework. This is crucial to facilitate widespread adoption of the proposed improved conceptual framework among LCA practitioners.

# 10. References

- Absalome, M. A., Massara, C.-C., Alexandre, A. A., Gervais, K., Chantal, G. G.-A., Ferdinand, D., Rhedoor, A. J., Coulibaly, I., George, T. G., Brigitte, T., Marion, M., & Jean-Paul, C. (2020). Biochemical properties, nutritional values, health benefits and sustainability of palm oil. *Biochimie*, 178, 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2020.09.019
- Anushree, S., André, M., Guillaume, D., & Frédéric, F. (2017). Stearic sunflower oil as a sustainable and healthy alternative to palm oil. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 37(3), 18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-017-0426-x
- Archer, D., Eby, M., Brovkin, V., Ridgwell, A., Cao, L., Mikolajewicz, U., Caldeira, K., Matsumoto, K., Munhoven, G., Montenegro, A., & Tokos, K. (2009). Atmospheric Lifetime of Fossil Fuel Carbon Dioxide. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 37(1), 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.earth.031208.100206
- Austin, K. G., Schwantes, A., Gu, Y., & Kasibhatla, P. S. (2019). What causes deforestation in Indonesia? Environmental Research Letters, 14(2), 024007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aaf6db
- Balvanera, P., Pfisterer, A. B., Buchmann, N., He, J., Nakashizuka, T., Raffaelli, D., & Schmid, B. (2006). Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. *Ecology Letters*, 9(10), 1146–1156. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00963.x
- Bennett, E. M., Peterson, G. D., & Gordon, L. J. (2009). Understanding relationships among multiple ecosystem services. Ecology Letters, 12(12), 1394–1404. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01387.x
- Bessou, C., Tailleur, A., Godard, C., Gac, A., de la Cour, J. L., Boissy, J., Mischler, P., Caldeira-Pires, A., & Benoist, A. (2020). Accounting for soil organic carbon role in land use contribution to climate change in agricultural LCA: which methods? Which impacts? The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 25(7), 1217–1230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-019-01713-8
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social Science Research: principles, methods, and practices. In Book 3. (2nd edition).
- Brandão, M., & Canals, L. M. (2013). Global characterisation factors to assess land use impacts on biotic production. International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 18(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-012-0381-3
- Brandão, M., Heijungs, R., & Cowie, A. L. (2022). On quantifying sources of uncertainty in the carbon footprint of biofuels: crop/feedstock, LCA modelling approach, land-use change, and GHG metrics. *Biofuel Research Journal*, 9(2), 1608–1616. https://doi.org/10.18331/BRJ2022.9.2.2
- Brander, M. (2015). Response to "Attributional life cycle assessment: is a land-use baseline necessary?" appreciation, renouncement, and further discussion. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 20(12), 1607–1611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-015-0974-8
- Brander, M. (2016). Conceptualising attributional LCA is necessary for resolving methodological issues such as the appropriate form of land use baseline. *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 21(12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-016-1147-0
- Brander, M., Tipper, R., Hutchison, C., & Davis, G. (2009). Consequential and Attributional Approaches to LCA: a Guide to Policy Makers with Specific Reference to Greenhouse Gas LCA of Biofuels.
- British Standards Institution. (2011). PAS 2050:2011 | Specification for the assessment of the life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of goods and services.

- British Standards Institution. (2012). PAS 2050-1:2012 | Assessment of life cycle greenhouse gas emissions from horticultural products.
- Cao, V., Margni, M., Favis, B. D., & Deschênes, L. (2017). Choice of land reference situation in life cycle impact assessment. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 22(8), 1220–1231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-016-1242-2
- Carpenter, S. R., Mooney, H. A., Agard, J., Capistrano, D., DeFries, R. S., Díaz, S., Dietz, T., Duraiappah, A. K., Oteng-Yeboah, A., Pereira, H. M., Perrings, C., Reid, W. V., Sarukhan, J., Scholes, R. J., & Whyte, A. (2009). Science for managing ecosystem services: Beyond the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(5), 1305–1312. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808772106
- Chaplin-Kramer, R., Sim, S., Hamel, P., Bryant, B., Noe, R., Mueller, C., Rigarlsford, G., Kulak, M., Kowal, V., Sharp, R., Clavreul, J., Price, E., Polasky, S., Ruckelshaus, M., & Daily, G. (2017). Life cycle assessment needs predictive spatial modelling for biodiversity and ecosystem services. Nature Communications, 8(1), 15065. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15065
- Chazdon, R. L., & Guariguata, M. R. (2016). Natural regeneration as a tool for large-scale forest restoration in the tropics: prospects and challenges. *Biotropica*, 48(6), 716–730. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12381
- Chiarucci, A., Araújo, M. B., Decocq, G., Beierkuhnlein, C., & Fernández-Palacios, J. M. (2010). The concept of potential natural vegetation: an epitaph? *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 21(6), 1172–1178. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2010.01218.x
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2011). Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research. In Organizational Research Methods (Vol. 5, Issue 4). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- De Baan, L., Alkemade, R., Koellner, T., Alkemade, R., & Koellner, T. (2013). Land use impacts on biodiversity in LCA: a global approach. Int J Life Cycle Assess, 18, 1216–1230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-012-0412-0
- De Rosa, M. (2018). Land Use and Land-use Changes in Life Cycle Assessment: Green Modelling or Black Boxing? Ecological Economics, 144, 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLECON.2017.07.017
- De Rosa, M., Pizzol, M., & Schmidt, J. (2018). How methodological choices affect LCA climate impact results: the case of structural timber. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 23(1), 147– 158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-017-1312-0
- Eigenbrod, F., Armsworth, P. R., Anderson, B. J., Heinemeyer, A., Gillings, S., Roy, D. B., Thomas, C. D., & Gaston, K. J. (2010). The impact of proxy-based methods on mapping the distribution of ecosystem services. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 47(2), 377–385. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01777.x
- Ekvall, T. (2020). Attributional and Consequential Life Cycle Assessment. In Sustainability Assessment at the 21st century. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.89202
- Ellis, E. C., Klein Goldewijk, K., Siebert, S., Lightman, D., & Ramankutty, N. (2010). Anthropogenic transformation of the biomes, 1700 to 2000. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 19(5), 589–606. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00540.x
- European Commission. (n.d.). European Platform on LCA | EPLCA. Retrieved September 18, 2023, from https://eplca.jrc.ec.europa.eu/EnvironmentalFootprint.html
- European Commission. (2021). Commission Recommendation (EU) 2021/2279 of 15 December 2021 on the use of the Environmental Footprint methods to measure and communicate the life cycle environmental performance of products and organisations. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32021H2279

- European Commission Joint Research Centre. (n.d.). Carbon modelling in the EC's Environmental Footprint method Working document [CONFIDENTIAL]. https://joint-research-centre.ec.europa.eu
- European Commission Joint Research Centre. (2010). International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook - General guide for Life Cycle Assessment - Detailed guidance.
- FAO. (2018). The future of food and agriculture Alternative pathways to 2050.
- FAOSTAT. (2020). Crops and livestock products. Production, Crops and Livestock Products, Yield, 2020. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL
- Finkbeiner, M. (2014). Indirect land use change Help beyond the hype? *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.01.024
- Finnveden, G., Arvidsson, R., Björklund, A., Guinée, J., Heijungs, R., & Martin, M. (2022). Six areas of methodological debate on attributional life cycle assessment. E3S Web of Conferences, 349. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202234903007
- Greenhouse Gas Protocol. (n.d.-a). About Us. Retrieved September 18, 2023, from https://ghgprotocol.org/about-us
- Greenhouse Gas Protocol. (n.d.-b). About WRI & WBCSD. Retrieved September 18, 2023, from https://ghgprotocol.org/about-wri-wbcsd
- Greenhouse Gas Protocol. (n.d.-c). Land Sector and Removals Guidance. Retrieved September 20, 2023, from https://ghgprotocol.org/land-sector-and-removals-guidance
- Guinée, J. B., Cucurachi, S., Henriksson, P. J. G., & Heijungs, R. (2018). Digesting the alphabet soup of LCA. In International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment (Vol. 23, Issue 7, pp. 1507–1511). Springer Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-018-1478-0
- Guinée, J. B., Gorrée, M., Heijungs, R., Huppes, G., Kleijn, R., Koning, A. de, Oers, L. van, Wegener Sleeswijk, A., Suh, S., Udo de Haes, H. A., Bruijn, H. de, Duin, R. van, & Huijbregts, M. A. J. (2002). Handbook on life cycle assessment. Operational guide to the ISO standards. I: LCA in perspective. IIa: Guide. IIb: Operational annex. III: Scientific background. Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Helin, T., Sokka, L., Soimakallio, S., Pingoud, K., & Pajula, T. (2013). Approaches for inclusion of forest carbon cycle in life cycle assessment - a review. GCB Bioenergy, 5(5), 475–486. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12016
- International Organization for Standardization. (2006). ISO 14040:2006.
- International Society for Industrial Ecology. (n.d.). What is industrial ecology? Retrieved March 17, 2024, from https://is4ie.org/about/what-is-industrial-ecology
- IPCC. (2006). 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories.
- IPCC. (2007). Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)].
- IPCC. (2019). Climate Change and Land. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157988.
- Kaplan, J. O., Krumhardt, K. M., & Zimmermann, N. (2009). The prehistoric and preindustrial deforestation of Europe. Quaternary Science Reviews, 28(27–28), 3016–3034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2009.09.028

- Koellner, T., Baan, L., Beck, T., Brandão, M., Civit, B., Margni, M., Canals, L. M., Saad, R., Souza, D. M., & Müller-Wenk, R. (2013). UNEP-SETAC guideline on global land use impact assessment on biodiversity and ecosystem services in LCA. International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 18(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-013-0579-z
- Koellner, T., de Baan, L., Beck, T., Brandão, M., Civit, B., Goedkoop, M., Margni, M., i Canals, L. M., Müller-Wenk, R., Weidema, B., & Wittstock, B. (2012). Principles for life cycle inventories of land use on a global scale. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 18(6), 1203–1215. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-012-0392-0
- Koellner, T., & Scholz, R. (2007). Assessment of Land Use Impacts on the Natural Environment. Part 1: An Analytical Framework for Pure Land Occupation and Land Use Change (8 pp). The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 12(1), 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2006.12.292.1
- Koellner, T., & Scholz, R. W. (2008). Assessment of land use impacts on the natural environment. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 13(1), 32–48. https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2006.12.292.2
- Koponen, K., & Soimakallio, S. (2015). Foregone carbon sequestration due to land occupation—the case of agro-bioenergy in Finland. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 20(11), 1544– 1556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-015-0956-x
- Koponen, K., Soimakallio, S., Kline, K. L., Cowie, A., & Brandão, M. (2018). Quantifying the climate effects of bioenergy – Choice of reference system. In *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* (Vol. 81). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.292
- Leinonen, I. (2022). A general framework for including biogenic carbon emissions and removals in the life cycle assessments for forestry products. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-022-02086-1
- Life Cycle Initiative. (2011). Global guidance principles for life cycle assessment databases: a basis for greener processes and products. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/785158
- Lindeijer, E., Müller-Wenk, R., Steen, B., & Udo De Haes, H. A. (2002). Resources and land use. Life Cycle Impact Assessment: Striving towards Best Practice.
- Liptow, C., Janssen, M., & Tillman, A.-M. (2018). Accounting for effects of carbon flows in LCA of biomassbased products—exploration and evaluation of a selection of existing methods. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 23(11), 2110–2125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-018-1436-x
- Milà i Canals, L. (2007). Land Use in LCA: A New Subject Area and Call for Papers. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 12(1), 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2006.12.295
- Milà i Canals, L., Bauer, C., Depestele, J., Dubreuil, A., Freiermuth Knuchel, R., Gaillard, G., Michelsen, O., Müller-Wenk, R., & Rydgren, B. (2007). Key Elements in a Framework for Land Use Impact Assessment Within LCA. Int J LCA, 12(1), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2006.05.250
- Milà i Canals, L., Rigarlsford, G., & Sim, S. (2013). Land use impact assessment of margarine. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 18(6), 1265–1277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-012-0380-4
- Molina-Azorín, J. F., & López-Gamero, M. D. (2016). Mixed Methods Studies in Environmental Management Research: Prevalence, Purposes and Designs. Business Strategy and the Environment, 25, 134–148. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1862
- Müller-Wenk, R., & Brandão, M. (2010). Climatic impact of land use in LCA-carbon transfers between vegetation/soil and air. The International Journal of Lyfe Cycle Assessment, 15, 172–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-009-0144-y

- Othoniel, B., Rugani, B., Heijungs, R., Benetto, E., & Withagen, C. (2016). Assessment of Life Cycle Impacts on Ecosystem Services: Promise, Problems, and Prospects. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(3), 1077–1092. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03706
- Plevin, R. J., Delucchi, M. A., & Creutzig, F. (2014). Using Attributional Life Cycle Assessment to Estimate Climate-Change Mitigation Benefits Misleads Policy Makers. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 18(1), 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12074
- Poeplau, C., & Don, A. (2013). Sensitivity of soil organic carbon stocks and fractions to different landuse changes across Europe. Geoderma, 192, 189–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2012.08.003
- Raad van State. (2019, May 29). PAS mag niet als toestemmingsbasis voor activiteiten worden gebruikt (201600614/3). https://www.raadvanstate.nl/@115651/pas-mag/. https://www.raadvanstate.nl/@115651/pas-mag/
- Raudsepp-Hearne, C., Peterson, G. D., & Bennett, E. M. (2010). Ecosystem service bundles for analyzing tradeoffs in diverse landscapes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(11), 5242– 5247. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0907284107
- Saad, R., Koellner, T., & Margni, M. (2013). Land use impacts on freshwater regulation, erosion regulation, and water purification: a spatial approach for a global scale level. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 18(6), 1253–1264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-013-0577-1
- Schaubroeck, T., Schaubroeck, S., Heijungs, R., Zamagni, A., Brandão, M., & Benetto, E. (2021). Attributional & consequential life cycle assessment: Definitions, conceptual characteristics and modelling restrictions. Sustainability (Switzerland), 13(13). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13137386
- Schmidinger, K., & Stehfest, E. (2012). Including CO2 implications of land occupation in LCAs—method and example for livestock products. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 17(8), 962– 972. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-012-0434-7
- Science Based Targets. (n.d.-a). About us. Https://Sciencebasedtargets.Org/about-Us.
- Science Based Targets. (n.d.-b). Forest, Land and Agriculture (FLAG). Retrieved September 18, 2023, from https://sciencebasedtargets.org/sectors/forest-land-and-agriculture
- Searchinger, T. D., Wirsenius, S., Beringer, T., & Dumas, P. (2018). Assessing the efficiency of changes in land use for mitigating climate change. *Nature*, 564(7735), 249–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0757-z
- Seppelt, R., Dormann, C. F., Eppink, F. V., Lautenbach, S., & Schmidt, S. (2011). A quantitative review of ecosystem service studies: approaches, shortcomings and the road ahead. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(3), 630–636. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01952.x
- Soimakallio, S., Brandão, M., Ekvall, T., Cowie, A., Finnveden, G., Erlandsson, M., Koponen, K., & Karlsson, P. E. (2016). On the validity of natural regeneration in determination of land-use baseline. In International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment (Vol. 21, Issue 4, pp. 448–450). Springer Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-016-1032-x
- Soimakallio, S., Cowie, A., Brandão, M., Finnveden, G., Ekvall, T., Erlandsson, M., Koponen, K., & Karlsson, P.-E. (2015). Attributional life cycle assessment: is a land-use baseline necessary? The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 20(10), 1364–1375. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-015-0947-y
- Souza, D. M., Teixeira, R. F. M., & Ostermann, O. P. (2015). Assessing biodiversity loss due to land use with Life Cycle Assessment: are we there yet? Global Change Biology, 21(1), 32–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12709

- Suh, S., & Yang, Y. (2014). On the uncanny capabilities of consequential LCA. International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 19(6), 1179–1184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-014-0739-9
- Teixeira, R. F. M. (2014). Integrating biodiversity and ecosystem services in life cycle assessment: Methodological proposals for new challenges. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, 42, 127–132. https://doi.org/10.3303/CET1442022
- United Nations Climate Change. (n.d.). The Paris Agreement. Retrieved September 25, 2023, from https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement
- Weidema, B. (2001). Avoiding Co-Product Allocation in Life-Cycle Assessment. Journal of Industrial Ecology, 4(3), 11–33. www.lca-net.com
- Winkler, K., Fuchs, R., Rounsevell, M., & Herold, M. (2021). Global land use changes are four times greater than previously estimated. *Nature* Communications, 12(1), 2501. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22702-2
- Wohlin, C. (2014). Guidelines for snowballing in systematic literature studies and a replication in software engineering. Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1145/2601248.2601268

# Appendix I. International standards for LUC CFP

In this Appendix, the characteristics of the UNEP-STEAC framework are compared to the most important international standards for LUC CFP.

For the quantification of LUC GHG emission in LCA, three international standards for CFP are most frequently used: the Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 2050; the Forest Land use and Agriculture Guidance (FLAG); and the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol. These three standards require LUC emissions to be included in the CFP and require LUC emissions to be reported separately.

## About the CFP standards

In this section, background information regarding the three CFP standards is be provided.

#### About the PAS 2050

The European Commission has developed the Product Environmental Footprint (PEF), which is a standardized LCA based method for quantifying the environmental impact of products (European Commission, n.d.). Its aim is to create more consistency and transparency on the sustainability of products and organization, by creating a European harmonized environmental calculation rules based on the LCA method. Specific calculation rules have been created for different product groups, named Product Environmental Category Rules (PEFCRs), and also for organisations (OEFCRs). The PEF was in its pilot phase from 2013 to 2018 and has now gone into a transition phase (where changes are made) before the policy implementation (European Commission, n.d.).

The PEF recommends the PAS 2050 for LUC: "For land use change: all carbon emissions and removals shall be modelled following the modelling guidelines of PAS 2050:2011 (BSI 2011) and the supplementary document PAS 2050-1:2012 (BSI 2012) for horticultural products" (European Commission, 2021)

The development of the Publicly Available Specification (PAS) has been facilitated by The British Standards Institution (SBI) Standards Limited. The main aim of PAS 2050 is to establish a common basis for quantifying GHG emissions that informs and enables GHG reduction programs (British Standards Institution, 2011). The PAS builds on ISO14040 and ISO 14044 by providing specific guidelines for assessing GHG emissions in LCA, including "treatment of emissions and removals from land use change and biogenic and fossil carbon sources" and "treatment of the impact of carbon storage in products and offsetting" (British Standards Institution, 2011). Additionally, the PAS 2050-1:2012 has been created to provide supplementary requirements (to PAS 2050) for the cradle to gate stages of GHG assessments of horticultural products (British Standards Institution, 2012).

### About the FLAG

The Forest Land use and Agriculture Guidance (FLAG) is developed by Science Based Target initiative (SBTi). SBTi is a partnership between the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), the United Nations Global Compact, World Resources Institute (WRI) and the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) (Science Based Targets, n.d.-a). SBTi offers businesses a predefined roadmap to reduce their GHG emissions, thereby mitigating climate change impacts, while also helping business grow more sustainably.

FLAG is the first standard that addresses the inclusion of land-based emissions and emission removals, so business can set targets to reduce their LUC impact. However, FLAG refers to the GHG protocol for details on emission calculations. Businesses with SBTi targets and emissions within FLAG sectors, must set targets and report on FLAG emissions according to this guideline (Science Based Targets, n.d.-b).

FLAG has announced that an updated version will be published after the GHG Protocol Land Sector and Removals Guidance is completed, to ensure it aligns.

### About the GHG Protocol

The Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol establishes global frameworks to quantify GHG emissions from private and public sector operations and mitigation efforts (Greenhouse Gas Protocol, n.d.-a). The GHG Protocol was established in 1998 through collaboration the World Resources Institute (WRI) and World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD) (GHG Protocol, n.d.-b).

Companies reporting a corporate GHG inventory in conformance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol shall follow the Land Sector and Removals Guidance if the company has land sector activities in its operations or value chain or if the company is reporting removals. The GHG Protocol Land Sector and Removals Guidance clarifies the procedures for companies to account for and report GHG emissions and removals originating from land management, LUC, biogenic products, carbon dioxide removal technologies, and associated activities within GHG inventories (Greenhouse Gas Protocol, n.d.-c). This builds upon the foundation of the Corporate Standard and Scope 3 Standard.

This guidance is under development since 2020 (Greenhouse Gas Protocol, n.d.-c). The Draft for Pilot Testing and Review is currently accessible, and the final version of the Guidance is expected to be completed and released in 2024. Therefore, the GHG Protocol is not included in the case study in Chapter 7.

# Comparing the CFP frameworks with UNEP-SETAC

#### Main differences regarding the fundaments of the frameworks

There are two main differences that can be found between the UNEP-SETAC framework and the CFP standards.

First, the CFP frameworks assume that LUC emissions are lost "forever". This can be perceived similar as assuming that the future of land use is continued occupation in the framework of UNEP-SETAC (Figure I.1a). However, instead of assuming that occupation is the future scenario, UNEP-SETAC assumes as a default that land will be abandoned after the studied land use, thus they assume that LUC emissions are taken up from the atmosphere during regeneration of the land (Figure I.1b).





Figure I.1a. CFP methods assume that LUC emissions are permanent.

Figure I.1b. UNEP-SETAC assumes LUC emissions are temporary.

Second, most CFP standards do not include the impacts caused by occupation. CFP standards include the measurable impacts and if it is assumed that quality remains stable during occupation, there is no measurable occupation impact. On the contrary, UNEP-SETAC assumes that the impact of occupation is the difference between the land quality of the studied occupation and a hypothetical land quality in a more ideal scenario.

#### Differences in amortization period and method

Table I.1 shows the differences in amortization period and method for the CFP methods compared to the UNEP-SETAC framework.

	FLAG	GHG Protocol	PAS 2050	UNEP-SETAC framework
Amortization period	20 years	20 years	20 years	20 years
Amortization method	Linear	Linear or equal	Equal	Equal

Table 1.1. Amortization period and method of CFP standards and the UNEP-STAC framework.

The CFP standards and UNEP-SETAC framework all recommend an amortization period of 20 years. This means that LUC emissions are attributed to the crops that are grown in 0 up to 20 years after the LUC event. Thus, no LUC emissions are attributed to the crops that are grown after 21 or more years after the LUC event. It is believed that 20 years corresponds to the time it takes for carbon stock to reach a new equilibrium after transformation, thus equal to the duration of the transition period (IPCC, 2006).

The amortization (or discounting) method determines how the calculated GHG emissions within the amortization period are assigned to crops, i.e. how much responsibility is assigned to the crops of a particular year within the amortization period.

With equal amortization, LUC emissions are equally distributed among the years within the amortization period. Thus, in case of the PAS 2050, 5% of the LUC emissions is assigned to each year within the 20-year amortization period (Figure I.2). Figure I.2 also shows that after those 20 years, there is a very big difference in LUC emissions for year 21 (0%) compared to year 20 (5%).

With linear amortization, the highest percentage of emissions is assigned to the production within first year after LUC and the lowest percentage of emissions is assigned to the production within the last year of the amortization period. Thus, in the case of a 20-year amortization period and linear amortization (e.g., FLAG), it results in a smoother transition of assigned LUC emissions between year 20 (0.25%) and 21 (0%) (Figure I.2).



Figure 1.2. Equal and linear amortization in % per year of total LUC emissions for an amortization period of 20 years.